

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# African American Matriarch's Experiences with Reentry after Incarceration

Denise Little Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Psychology Commons

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

# Denise Little

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Stephen Hampe, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty

Dr. Alethea Baker, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty

Dr. Brandy Benson, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

#### **Abstract**

# African American Matriarchs' Experiences with Reentry after Incarceration

by

Denise Little

MS, Walden University, 2018

MS, Roosevelt University, 2008

BS, Roosevelt University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Psychology

Walden University

May, 2022

#### Abstract

Reentering society after incarceration can be difficult for all ex-convicts but worse for African American women. Once released from prison, these women face the challenges of reintegrating back into the community and rebuilding their lives. When released, most African American women are disproportionately under-educated, have low income, and possess little to no employment skills. As mothers, these African American women have the additional challenge of supporting a family while integrating into society. This study was conducted to examine the experiences and perspectives of African American matriarchs reentering society after incarceration. A qualitative phenomenological design guided this investigation exploring 15 African American matriarchs' experiences reentering society after incarceration. Using critical race theory, the effect of race and socioeconomic status of these women was emphasized to identify their impact on this targeted group of ex-offenders. A questionnaire and a series of follow-up interviews were employed to collect the participants' experiences. The findings identify the factors that most impacted these women when they attempted to reenter society after incarceration; themes included belief in self, finding housing, finding employment, family support, and reentry experiences. Subthemes included ethnicity, education, getting custody of children, reentry services, and job readiness. The results can inform public policies and social programs that address ex-offenders and their ability to obtain public funding or other services when reentering the community.

# African American Matriarchs' Experiences with Reentry after Incarceration

by

Denise Little

MS, Walden University, 2018 MS, Roosevelt University, 2008 BS, Roosevelt University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Psychology

Walden University

May, 2022

# Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to give honor to GOD, who is the head of my life. I would like to thank my partner in crime, my ride or die, my husband, David Little, who is taking this journey with me. I spent a lot of sleepless nights crying on your shoulder, but you encouraged me, prayed with me, and pushed me to carry on. When I felt like quitting, you were the one that encouraged me and said, "do not give up." In a time of uncertainty, you are my rock, and I love you for that. Next, I would like to thank my irritating youngest child DaNaija who repeatedly asked, "What are you doing? Are you doing your homework?" "I think you should get busy." I would also like to thank my oldest, Sabrina Scott, who tells me how proud she is of me. I would also like to thank my son David Little, II. My granddaughter Arianna (apple tree) and the newest addition, little Ava (Nook, Nook), for understanding when I forgot to return their phone calls because I was working on my paper. I love you all. Finally, I would like to thank my committee Dr. Stephen Hampe and Dr. Alethea Baker, for their patience and guidance in helping me with this process. Thank you both so much.

# Table of Contents

List of Tables
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study
Background
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions6
Theoretical Framework7
Nature of the Study8
Definition of Terms9
Assumptions10
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations10
Significance11
Summary11
Chapter 2: Literature Review13
Literature Search Strategy13
Conceptual Framework14
Critical Race Theory14
Literature Review19
Reentering Society
Experiences of African American Women

Barriers to Women Reentering Society Successfully	27
Experience in the Community	29
Successfully Transitioning Back into the Community	30
Recidivism3	31
Summary3	33
Chapter 3: Research Method	35
Research Design and Rationale	15
Role of the Researcher	8
Methodology3	9
Participant Selection	9
Recruitment3	9
Instrumentation	0
Data Collection	1
Data Analysis	3
Issues of Trustworthiness4	3
Credibility4	4
Transferability4	5
Dependability4	5
Conformability46	5
Ethical Consideration46	5
Summary47	7
hanter 4: Results	<b>5</b>

Setting48
Demographics49
Data Analysis51
Evidence of Trustworthiness
Credibility
Transferability53
Dependability53
Confirmability53
Results54
Research Question 1
Research Question 2
Research Question 3
Theme 1: Belief in Self
Theme 2: Finding Housing
Theme 3: Finding Employment
Theme 4: Family Support64
Theme 5: Reentry Experience
Summary68
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations
Interpretation of Findings70
Limitations74
Recommendations75

Implications	76
Conclusion	77
References	
Appendix: Interview Questions	99

# List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics of Participants	. 49
Table 2. Themes and Subthemes	. 55

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Being released from prison can be an exciting experience; however, it can also be terrifying for many. Once released from prison, all former inmates face challenges reintegrating back into the community, but this can be particularly difficult for African American women (Western et al., 2015). Some African American female ex-convicts find themselves unemployed, poor, and homeless (Opsal & Foley, 2013). Further complicating matters, many of these women return to the community where they were arrested, and they no longer hold the status they had pre-incarceration (Anderson & Pitner, 2018).

Additionally, formerly incarcerated African American women form a complicated population and require gender and culture-specific amenities and treatments (Jalali & Hashemi, 2019; Opsal & Foley, 2013; Perry et al., 2013). These women must collectively deal with being an ex-convict and female in addition to the oppression associated with being Black (Maruschak et al., 2015). Some of these women were mothers and were faced with regaining custody of their children. Thus, these women require holistic interventions that support their spiritual, physical, and psychological needs as well as finding stable employment, education, and housing for a successful transition into the community (Anderson & Pitner, 2018).

Though some evidence of African American women's experiences and perspectives successfully reentering society has been established, little evidence shows the specific experience of African American matriarchs re-entering the community (Mitchell & Davis, 2019). It is important to identify this group as matriarchs because they

hold special meaning in the African American community. The *Black matriarch* is a term that refers to a strong Black woman who is the head of her house. She is expected to be in control of the family due to the disparity of Black men in the labor force. Her energy is focused on making sure her children are cared for and ensuring her home runs smoothly. These Black matriarchs endure adversity for the sake of their family (Andrews et al., 2017). The matriarch is usually the family's primary caregiver, which fortifies the family's bond. Although these women may have some support from their extended families, the overall expectation is that they become financially independent and care for their own immediate families (Muthee et al., 2020).

This exploratory study addressed African American matriarchs' experiences and perspectives seeking social assistance for essential necessities, such as employment, housing, health care, and psychological needs. In considering these factors, the matriarchs' experiences and perspectives re-entering into their community can bring attention to the inequality they often face in a society that challenges their livelihood. The following chapter presents a background on the study as well as details on the nature of the study, definitions of key terms, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and the significance of the study.

#### Background

With the number of incarcerated people increasing, the number of people returning to the community has also increased. In the past decade, the United States has shown a growing number of ex-convicts re-entering society (FBI, 2015). In 2018, according to the Department of Justice, more than 10 million people were arrested in the

United States; of these, over 219,000 were Black women. Similarly, over 700,000 exconvicts are released back into the community each year, and at least 9,000 are women of color (Department of Justice, 2019). Black ex-offenders are disproportionately challenged in health care, housing, and employment (Muthee et al., 2020). Black people are denied political, social, and economic help with societal re-entry (Forman, 2018). Though most women returning to the community after incarceration may experience similar barriers, African American women's experiences have been worse than other exconvicts.

Black women possess a unique set of problems when it comes to re-entry. Due to a historical race-based disparity in society, particularly with social services, oppression, and abuse, at least 80% of Black women suffer from some form of comorbidity (i.e., depression, sexual assault, violence, posttraumatic stress disorder; (Donovan & West, 2015). Because of these traumatic events, women are more likely than men to shift from substance abuse to alcohol or drug dependency, with many becoming addicted to more than one substance (McHugh et al., 2018). As treatment is often lacking in prison, the illness often intensifies, producing additional distress during societal reentry (Mitchell & Davis 2019). Too often, these women are also mothers. For example, in Illinois, at least 48% of all Black women re-entering the community after incarceration under 31 were mothers, and 51% of these women were from a lower socioeconomic neighborhood. The educational level of these women ranged from elementary school to some college. However, 33% of these women did not complete high school or GED (IL DOC, 2017).

For women of color to re-enter society successfully, there need to be more available and equitable services (Gordon, 2018). But studies focusing on a lack of resources during reentry lack information about African American women's unique obstacles and experiences when obtaining housing, employment, and health care (Oser et al., 2016). More attention needs to be given to reentry resources, rehabilitation, and determining why the current system does not support African American women (Christian, 2013). Further, due to issues with culture, race disparity, gender, and class, more understanding is needed about African American women's perceptions and experiences as they negotiate the context of re-entering their neighborhood (Opsal & Foley, 2013). Other researchers concur, suggesting a lack of research overall on the reasons for racial inequality regarding resources in the African American community (McMahon, 2013).

Previous reentry research has focused on men's experiences; however, little research focuses on women's experiences (Bowleg et al., 2013; Griffith et al., 2013; Lurigio et al., 2016). Further, little research focuses on African American women who are the head of their house and are reentering society after incarceration (Callahan et al., 2016; Heidemann et al., 2016). Most research on men's experiences is generalized to reflect women's experiences, but few, if any, capture women's actual experiences as the matriarch (Link & Oser, 2018). The matriarch is a powerful woman who single-handedly controls her home; the matriarch provides stability to keep the home organized and operational (Sewell, 2013). However, little research focuses on Black female ex-convicts' long-term success with children and how they can surmount the numerous obstacles

while trying to improve and successfully sustain their matriarchal lifestyle (Mitchell & Davis 2019). This study addresses these gaps in the research by focusing on the experiences of African American women matriarchs reentering society after incarceration.

#### **Problem Statement**

As recently as 2017, in the United States, the number of previously incarcerated African American women reentering their community rose from 8% to 12% (IL DOC, 2017). Most of these women reentering the community are matriarchs with limited skills, major health problems, alcohol or substance abuse history, and mental illness (Ruiz & Kopak, 2014). But they are uniquely challenged by a lack of dedicated social services that facilitate a sustainable existence for themselves and their dependent children. Though most Black women are resilient when starting over, being Black heads of the household makes reentering their community more difficult (Donovan & West, 2015). Upon their release, these women require exceptional support and resources to adequately care for their children and reintegrate back into the community.

Research on ex-convicts reentering society has focused mostly on Caucasians and men. There is little research on African American women's experiences in the United States reentering society after incarceration even though in 2016 there were an estimated 21,340 African American women in prison and 26,900 African American women in jail (Carson, 2016). Of these, 15,647 are reportedly matriarchs (Ruiz & Kopak, 2014). Moreover, there is a gap in the knowledge regarding African American matriarchs returning to the community. This study addressed the gap by providing an in-depth

exploration of their experiences reentering their community after incarceration, the challenges they faced, and what resources were accessible in that effort. Specifically, I explored how they attempted to find employment, housing, transportation, regain custody of their children, and reinstate control of their home.

# **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study was to provide new research on the lived experiences of African American matriarchs reentering society after incarceration. The results will contribute to the literature by providing African American matriarchs' perspectives and challenges when reentering their community such as their experiences when seeking housing, jobs, and education during reentry. Analysis of these women's experiences can also further inform social programs and public policies that target ex-offenders, particularly those that may directly impact single mothers seeking resources, comprehension of these women's encounters, and perspectives while seeking assistance reentering society. Lastly, this research contributes to the body of literature on critical race theory (CRT) as it investigates how race impacts the societal perception of formerly incarcerated Black mothers who are heads of their households.

#### **Research Questions**

The following research questions were used to gather information about African American matriarchs' experience when reentering society:

Research Question 1: In what ways do African American matriarchs describe their experiences when reentering the community after incarceration?

Research Question 2: In what ways do formerly incarcerated African American matriarchs obtain human services (e.g., health care, employment, childcare) when reentering society?

Research Question 3: In what ways has race impacted reentry into society for formerly incarcerated African American matriarchs?

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework is grounded in CRT (Heenehan, 2020). CRT is the use of first-hand knowledge regarding the Black population and their culture to emphasize how race, racism, and oppression, directly and indirectly, affect minorities' culture. CRT states that racism and racial inequality are repetitive and determine how individuals are perceived and treated in society. Further, it claims that organizations and institutions are mainly responsible for persistent racial disparity (Heenehan, 2020).

In the early 1970s, Derrick Bell, the first African American professor at Harvard Law School, started the CRT movement to examine the appearance of racism in the Black community (Delgado et al., 2013). In the 1980s, Kimberle Crenshaw continued to use CRT to address oppression and promote understanding black women's experiences of being Black and being a woman in a racist society. CRT can be traced back to the civil rights era and Black women's roles in the anti-slavery movement from the 1830s to the present. In this study, CRT addresses the role of race and racism concerning Black matriarchs' experiences and disparities, with employment, housing, and educational resources upon societal reentry following incarceration. It also informed the study's analysis about racism (Montaño & Kasprzyk, 2015) about this target population.

## Nature of the Study

The research method for this study was qualitative with a phenomenological design, allowing me to study the phenomenon in an interpretive environment using semistructured interviews (Creswell, 2018). The sampling strategy was a convenience selection of participants from a social service agency that provided reentry services. In addition, snowball sampling was used as a follow-up approach by requesting referrals from previously selected participants because additional participants were needed.

To ensure rich data, I conducted interviews with 15 ex-convict African American matriarchs reentering society after incarceration who were not on parole or probation. In qualitative research, the sample size is dependent on the paradigm used to collect the data. Data collection continued until saturation, which is when the researcher is unable to obtain any new information and is an indication that there are sufficient samples (Lowe, Norris, Farris, & Babbage, 2018). According to previous research, eight to 10 participants are sufficient to reach saturation for the phenomenological design (Creswell, 2018).

Data were collected using face-to-face, semistructured interviews via teleconference and videoconference. The interview elicited the participants' experiences, perceptions, thoughts, and feelings. Data analysis is the process of organizing the data according to themes, emotions, and other unexpected sections. The data were analyzed using NVivo qualitative data analysis computer software (Faber et al., 2019). NVivo was used to organize non-numerical and unstructured data. The software was used to classify, sort, examine themes in the data, arrange data, and combine analysis.

#### **Definition of Terms**

Desistance: To desist from committing crimes. Desistance is a way of thinking for some ex-convicts when the ex-criminal reaches a point in their life and ceases committing criminal acts (Kay, 2015).

Disparity: Unequal treatment based on race, sex, culture, sexual orientation, or any discriminatory act (Link & Oster, 2018).

Ex-offender: An individual who was no longer incarcerated but is now released (Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2016).

Matriarch: Women in authority within the household who takes charge of the children, the chores, and the home's finances (Swell, 2013).

Recidivism: An ex-convict who has undergone rehabilitation who relapses and reoffends. Recidivism usually occurs within 3 years of the person being released from
prison. The ex-convict usually commits a crime similar to the original crime (Brock,
2017).

Reentry: For the purposes of this study, reentry refers to the successful return to the community using legal and socially acceptable practices (Cobbina & Bender, 2012).

Socioeconomic status: An individual or group's financial and class rank in society. Socioeconomic status could determine how a person is perceived and treated by the community. Some individuals are denied services based on their income, race, and sexual orientation (Potter et al., 2019).

## **Assumptions**

This study was based on the assumptions that (a) the participants were truthful in answering the questions and sharing their experiences; (b) some of the participants had similar reentry experiences; (c) the participants provided an accurate description of their reintegration experiences, and (d) the participants had a vested interest in the study and were not doing it for any secular benefit. These assumptions ensure that any criteria outside of my control had minimal impact on the study's outcome.

## **Scope and Delimitations**

The scope included how socioeconomic status, race, and gender affected African American matriarchs' reintegration experiences and perspectives after incarceration.

Specifically, the research focused on these targeted ex-offenders' experiences finding employment, housing, and other basic necessities. Participants included 15 African American ex-offenders who were classified as matriarchs. Age was not a factor.

Therefore, the delimitations of the study included collecting data from a specific population in a major city in the Midwestern United States in Illinois. Exclusion criteria consisted of non-African Americans, males, and women who were not matriarchs.

#### Limitations

A limitation to this research is that this qualitative study is limited to African American matriarch ex-convicts, not on parole or supervision; therefore, this study may not be transferable or generalizable to the broader populations of non-African American matriarchs or female African American ex-offenders. In addition, teleconferencing and videoconferencing were utilized due to the COVID-19 virus, which may have limited the

information from participants who were less comfortable with those communication platforms. I also made a reasonable attempt to avoid any personal biases that could have affected the results.

## Significance

This study may contribute to advancing knowledge concerning African American matriarch ex-offender reintegration back into the community. Women in this situation offered information regarding their experiences and how they navigated the system, which could assist other women in similar circumstances. It can also encourage policymakers to provide more equitable and substantive assistance to re-integrating this population, including increased mechanisms to help these women navigate the existing human service system. Further, these results could have significant implications for lawmakers to change the policies and practices that impact ex-offenders. Such changes could enable these women a way out of poverty and allow them the opportunity to take care of their families while reentering the community. This research could also create a more consistent view of these women's reintegration experiences, which could help streamline the transition from being incarcerated to returning to the community.

## **Summary**

Research has shown that some African American women reentering the community after incarceration may face some barriers when reentering society (Callahan et al., 2016). However, there is limited information about African American matriarch experiences reintegrating after incarceration. The problem is that the lived experiences of Black matriarchs when they are released from incarceration are uniquely challenged by a

lack of dedicated social services that facilitate a sustainable existence for themselves and their dependent children. Chapter 1 presented the topic for this study: formerly incarcerated African American women matriarchs attempting to reintegrate into society. In Chapter 2, I will provide a review of the literature that explored various viewpoints regarding African American matriarchs' reentry experiences after incarceration.

## Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this study was to explore African American matriarchs' experiences reentering society after incarceration, which brings attention to these women's experiences when looking for housing, employment, and education.

Understanding what these women go through can encourage policymakers to change the policies to help these women better navigate the system. It can also help them find resources specific to their needs (Anderson & Pitner, 2018). Based on the current literature, African American women continue to deal with oppression and disparity, similar to women's experiences in the 1950s. Disproportionately, Black women are subjected to poor standards due to lower educational attainments and lower social-economic status (Link & Oster, 2018; Crenshaw, 1991). According to the U.S.

Department of Justice (2017), 66% of all Black women in the United States are either uneducated or undereducated. There needs to be more understanding of African American women's experiences and any barriers they may endure while reentering the community. Further, there needs to be a long-term solution to women's experiences and their perception of how they are treated when reentering society (Tiburcio, 2008).

#### Literature Search Strategy

To identify relevant literature, the following databases were used: EBSCOHost, PsycINFO, psycARTICLES, and SocINDEX. Most of the articles used are peer-reviewed articles dated from 1988–2020. Keywords included, but were not limited to recidivism, jail, prison, women of color, African American women, Black women, abuse, locked up reentry, reintegration, released, incarceration, convicts, ex-convicts, community, and

resources. In addition, the following terms were added to refine the search further: women's experiences, women of color, ex-offender, and socioeconomic status. Finally, due to the limited literature regarding African American women and their experiences reentering the community after incarceration, a few articles were included that were not peer-reviewed, specifically documentaries written about women with these experiences.

## **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework for this study is CRT (Johnson, 2015). This framework was based on Black women's culture, gender, social network, and experiences (Hamilton, 2003). This approach was conceptualized by Blacks fighting segregation due to the enslavement of Blacks in the 1800s. The theory evolved from Black women's role in the anti-slavery movement in 1830. Race and gender are social categories usually viewed through successful White men's experiences to identify differences among people (Haslanger, 2000). However, both categories were based on assumptions and beliefs on an individual and social level that affect African Americans' thoughts, feelings, behaviors, resources, and treatment (Bell & Nkomo, 2001). Using CRT can allow the reader to understand why Black women's experiences reentering their community after incarceration are different from other populations.

#### **Critical Race Theory**

In this research, CRT was used to signify the relationship between the authorities, people of color, racial tension, segregation, and subordination to help combat racism.

CRT purports that White privilege and racial sovereignty are sustained over time due to racism and disparity. From the Civil Rights movements to the 21st century, African

Americans have continued to battle similar racial tension and oppression that Black

Americans endured in the 1800s. In 1866, the Civil Rights Act was signed and passed by

Congress, which stated that all Blacks were citizens; however, they continued to suffer at
the hands of Whites. White supremacy groups rioted against Blacks and even created a
"Black code" that restricted them from truly being free. Section 1 of the 14th Amendment
was passed in 1868, which offered protection to all citizens; however, it would take years
before the law would be even marginally applied to Black citizens. As such, during the
time of its passage, Whites continued to torture Black citizens. In 1876, Jim Crow
became a state and local law that enforced racial segregation in the Southern United
States. This law was mainly in the Southern states and used to separate and marginalize
African Americans in shared public spaces. African Americans accused of defying the
law were severely punished regardless of their newfound citizenship status. In the 1900s,
when race-neutral laws were put into effect to minimize racism and eliminate
segregation, the oppression of Blacks continued (Crenshaw, 1988).

From the ongoing racial tension and disparity for African Americans, CRT emerged. CRT is in line with DuBois's mission to integrate racism with White supremacy. DuBois felt that for Blacks to achieve empowerment, there had to be cultivation and dissemination of the African American population. CRT applies to advocacy in the 1900s for justice for people of color by evading the issues of race, oppression, and dissemination (Schiffer, 2014). According to CRT, racism and racial inequality are continual and determine how an individual is perceived and treated in society. Organizations and institutions are mainly responsible for persistent racial

disparity (Reece, 2018). Some of the common tenets of CRT agreed upon by most theorists are that racism is a common everyday experience that is not discussed to avoid it. Essentially, racism continues to exist because White power is not interested in changing their way of thinking (Schiffer, 2014).

Some examples of CRT in historical action can be seen in the U.S. military and throughout the Civil Rights Movement. In 1948, President Truman signed Executive Order 9981, ending segregation in the military. However, racism, prejudice, discrimination, and inequities still existed. The Civil Rights Movement began in the 1950s, rallying against segregation. It started with *Brown v. Board of Education* in 1954, ruling that public schools' racial segregation was unconstitutional. In 1957 nine African American female students were denied enrollment in Little Rock Central High School due to racial segregation by Governor Faubus. The students' struggle was sustained by the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Brown v. Board of Education*, which stated that school segregation was unconstitutional. However, White protesters became violent, attacking the students. One student was expelled because she fought back. Governor Faubus was reelected in 1958, but instead of desegregation, he closed all of Little Rock's schools (Devlin, 2018). The following century continued to spawn protest after protest with Blacks fighting for equal rights.

In response to the Civil Rights Movement in the 70s, a group of legal scholars officially coined CRT (Simba, 2017); however, Derrick Bell has been credited as CRT's founder (Dixson & Rousseau, 2005). Bell attended the American Association of Law Schools and Critical Legal Studies annual conference to discuss mainstream issues at

Harvard Law School, though he resigned due to a lack of diversity at the school (Simba, 2017). CRT gained momentum in the 80s when conservative Supreme Court policies slowed the progress made in the 60s after the Civil Rights Movement. New terms like colorblindness and race/gender elimination made it difficult for states and Congress to address racial and gender inequality issues. CRTs acknowledged the historical role that laws played in hindering Blacks from advancing. For Black women, that sentiment is extended. In that regard, Crenshaw (1991) proposed that if gender were eliminated from the analysis of racism, only the need for men of color would be addressed.

In the late 80s, Kimberlé Crenshaw (2011) and 23 law students at Harvard University further developed CRT. Crenshaw stated that CRT arose as an intervention for women of color and examined the relationship between race, racism, power, and how women of color lives were shaped due to racism. Crenshaw and the 23 members' objective was to advance Black people's future by exploring the race and gender magnitudes of discrimination and violence against people of color. CRT is used by women to address disparities (Schiffer, 2014; Trevino et al., 2008) and to analyze issues confronted by Black women (Johnson, 2015). For example, CRT may be used to explain how African American women were thought of as possessions or slaves to White men and unable to contribute financially, and whose sole role was to be supportive wives to their spouses (Hamilton, 2003). Two prevailing stereotypes associated with African American women during these historical periods (and to some extent today) were that they are not educated and are only suitable for domestic chores. At that time, it was

perceived that African American women could not care for themselves or even get an education (Hamilton, 2003).

In 2013, African Americans took center stage in response to police shootings and racial profiling of Black men. In 2015, the police killed a Black man in Missouri, which sparked the Black Lives Matter initiative (Dixson, 2017). In this new movement, CRT can be used to understand and promote interventions for the issues that affect the lives of Black people. As such, the media began to report how little value was placed on the lives of Black men and women (Dixson, 2017). In response, there have been at least 85 federal and state laws passed in response to Black Lives Matter. In 2016, a group of leaders from 50 organizations convened to present demands that the Black community wanted to see (Harris, 2018). Some of the demands were to end the unnecessary killing of Black men and women by law enforcement and focus on education and employment in the Black community (Harris, 2018). A struggle for equality has always included a fight for education and employment (McPhearson, 2014).

When considering African American women who were formerly incarcerated and trying to reenter society, CRT can illustrate how vital race may be for this population.

Crenshaw (1989) suggested that race, class, gender, sex, and social-economic status contribute to the marginalization of Blacks; CRT not only questions essentialism in African American women but can be applied to the experiences of African American matriarchs to examine their experiences when reentering the community. CRT can explain the experiences of African American women who are reentering society and potentially increase their chances of successfully reintegrating into the community

(Simien, 2004). With such understanding, the reentry process could be made more accessible, helping these newly released women become gainfully employed, connect with their family, community, and live a productive life. Though the Hamilton project (2003) used the Community and Law Enforcement Resources Together (ComALERT) and Reintegration of Offenders frameworks to address problems with reentry, these frameworks do not address the specific and unique needs of African American women ex-offenders. These frameworks missed important considerations or features that are critical for Black women (Hamilton, 2003), such as experiencing a unique class of oppression that is explicit to their race and gender (Perry et al., 2013).

#### Literature Review

This literature review focuses on African American women's experiences reentering society once they were released from jail/prison. This review also focuses on understanding the barriers some of these women faced, their experiences reentering the community, and their experiences seeking resources that may affect them successfully reentering society. Overall, researchers identified three primary barriers for ex-offenders: employment, health, and racial disparities. Research also showed that most ex-offenders had negative experiences reentering the community, particularly if resources were limited or nonexistent (Opsal & Foley, 2013.

Further, African American women are often the only support for their families, meaning these women must navigate complex obstacles that hinder their efforts to survive in their community (Opsal & Foley, 2013). Many Black women in the United States are poor, live in lower socioeconomic status, and are oppressed (Huebner et al.,

2010). But little attention has been given to female ex-convicts reentering society (Christian, 2013) despite their experiences with racism, sexism, and classism before incarceration, which are worse after incarceration.

# **Reentering Society**

As of 2015, African Americans made up about 15% of the United States' population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2015). However, Blacks make up 67% of the prison population, and African American women make up over 52% of the women in prison. There has been an increase in African American ex-convicts reentering the community. Approximately 800,000 of the prison population reenter the community yearly (Glaze & Bonczar, 2009). When women reenter society, they encounter many adverse experiences related to reintegrating back into the community, including substance abuse, physical and mental health (Bowman & Travis, 2012). In state prisons, 52% of the women have admitted to substance abuse.

Additionally, mental health is one of the leading causes for unsuccessful reentry by ex-offenders, particularly for women (Goomany & Dickinson, 2015). According to the Bureau of Justice Statistics, 73.1% of females in state prison, 61% in federal prison, and 75.4% in prison have some form of mental disorder, and 23% receive medication for a psychological disorder (James & Glaze, 2006). Research in a New Jersey prison also showed that at least 18% of the inmates had a behavioral health disorder (Blita et al., 2005). Further, women's chances of being diagnosed with a psychological disorder while in prison were 37%, and 50 % of African Americans had a mental disorder, though only about 30% of Black women were diagnosed. Once released from prison, these women

most likely recidivate due to non-compliance and a lack of assistance finding resources (Blita et al., 2005). Further, when considering essential medical health, 90% of the female inmates in state prisons have not received a gynecological exam, 5% were pregnant when arrested, 4% did not receive prenatal care before admission (Greenfield, 2000).

Women need reentry services that focus on physical, sexual, and substance abuse. Further, African American women reentering the community have a greater need for social services intervention than Caucasian women (Crenshaw, 2011). African American ex-offenders do not have good health care options, and many may not be inclined to get what is available due to mental health concerns or substance abuse problems. For example, many of these women have suffered physical or sexual abuse that likely has led to undiagnosed mental health issues. A large majority of these women (69%) have reported sexual abuse before they were 18 years old. According to the Bureau of Justice statistics, 40% of Black women reported a high drug and alcohol usage rate before and during their arrest (Motivans, 2015). Black women returning to the community from lower socioeconomic status have indicated felt substance abuse treatment was a significant need for women reentering society (Ritchie, 2018).

Based on these needs, more programs be developed for women reentering the community (Scroggins & Malley, 2010). Programs available for these women may require them to visit multiple locations to receive services, which may not be an option (Scroggins & Malley, 2010). In addition to being an ex-convict, they may not qualify for some services. A greater understanding of why ex-convicts cannot get some public

resources and how they are expected to be productive citizens is needed, as they often cannot get these services (Scroggins & Malley, 2010).

Once released, African American women struggle to regain their life. Their children may have been placed in foster homes. They struggle to find employment in order to regain custody of their children. Some women have to deal with preexisting health problems like HIV, high blood pressure, diabetes, and heart disease, which are more common in the African American community. Due to these issues, women find it challenging to find housing, employment, and medical care. According to McMahon (2013), women are not given the same opportunities as men when it comes to rehabilitation while incarcerated. There is more racial inequality relating to resources in the African American community than in other populations (McMahon, 2013; Leverentz, 2010; Deivasigamani, 2019; Achiume, 2018). African Americans have to endure racialized structural forces such as unemployment and housing discrimination, producing hyper-segregated and economically disadvantaged neighborhoods. African American women are not granted the same opportunities as Caucasian women (Leverentz, 2010). With the vast number of people reentering the community comes a need for much-needed funding for reentry services (Brown, 2010). According to Brown (2010): The communities cannot meet the needs of the massive number of people re-entering the neighborhoods due to little or no funding.

Due to disparity and oppression, African American women encounter challenges when re-entering and reintegrating into a society that other women do not encounter (Brown, 2010). Christian (2013) suggested that more resources should be dedicated to

understanding African American women's perceptions and experiences with race, class, and gender as they negotiate their neighborhood context.

# **Experiences of African American Women**

African American women face opposition with reentry that other cultures do not have to endure. At least 62% of African American women convicts were mothers and heads of families before being arrested. These women are more likely to be the custodial parent of children under 18 (Ropes, Kennedy, Lloyd, Veeh, & Tripodi, 2020).

Koski and Cosanza (2010) documented some women's experiences reentering their community. One woman stated that once released, she did not know where to begin looking for resources. The woman felt very uncertain and did not know what to expect. Another woman stated that she tried to stop substance use; however, she kept using due to a lack of education. Most of these women were frustrated due to the lack of education. Once arrested, their children are put in foster care, and the support that the families need stops. These women need to support reintegrating with their children. More often, African American women are the only support for these families. African American women usually have cultural of health issues that are not addressed while in prison, and once released, the condition is perpetuated (Brown, 2010). Cultural of health enables everyone the ability to lead a healthier life by having access to health care Belgrave & Abrams 2016). African American women had dealt with health issues as far back as the Civil Rights Movement when Ms. Fannie Lou Hammer died from hypertension and breast cancer. "Fannie Lou Hammer's tombstone reads, "I am sick and tired of being sick and tired" (Williams 2019).

Due to the disparity and discrimination, Black women endure, their quality of life is being affected. Their rate of obesity, heart disease, and diabetes has doubled compared to other cultures. Further, there is a disproportionate amount of illness in the African American community, and many have limited access to healthcare. For example, as recently as 2018, 23% of African Americans are uninsured, and 7.5 % are underinsured and lack self-care (Wehby, & Lyu, 2018). Without self-care, these women are even further challenged by any critical illness.

When ex-offenders do seek social services in healthcare or for other needs, their experiences are problematic. Specifically, the women express difficulties finding resources, and when they do, the time frame to access the services is extensive. For example, some newly released women have reported wait times as long as three to four months for medical services and housing (Keene, Rosenberg, Schlesinger, Guo, & Blankenship, 2018). They fear that they do not have access to decent housing or medical care (Binswanger, 2011). Without these services, these women fear that they will not be able to care for their children or themselves.

Many black women in the U.S. are poor, live in lower socioeconomic status, and are oppressed (Huebner et al., 2010). According to Christian (2013), very little attention has been given to female ex-convicts re-entering society. African American women experience racism, sexism, and classism before incarceration, and it is worse after imprisonment. Due to oppression, it is more difficult for African American women to find employment.

Couloute and Kopf (2018) state that unemployment rates for African American women are at an all-time high, and the unemployment rate for these women is much higher than for other races. Therefore, African American women returning to the community are shut out of the job market; their unemployment rate is five times higher than for the general population.

Traditionally, most inmates are men, so most reentry programs and research focus on men. According to Rosenfield et al. (2003), gender, race, and ethnicity influence an individual's ability to suppress personal problems and affect the ex-convict's ability to reenter society successfully. Many ex-convicts were paroled back into the community from which they were arrested. They return to a life of poverty, which increases their risk of recidivating.

African American women are excessively victimized by systems that aggravate reentry and retain poverty (Brown, 2010). The theoretical framework labeling theory states that individuals respond to labels placed on them by others (Christian, 2013).

Anderson and Pitner's (2018) study on 50 Black females and 152 White females suggested that little attention is given to Black female ex-convicts re-entering society. Most Black women in the study were housed in a custodial facility with limited or no rehabilitation services compared to most Caucasian women housed in reformatory facilities, with various reentry and reform programs (Anderson & Pitner, 2018). The study concluded that Black females were invisible to policymakers making policies and new reforms to increase their chance of successfully reentering the community.

In racial discourse, Black women were often invisible. Sesko and Biernat (2018) posed that sexism usually refers to Caucasian women and racism usually refers to Black men. Sesko and Biernat (2018) suggest that Black women were invisible because they did not fit the prototypical image of the stereotyped population. Because Black women were thought to be invisible, their faces and voices were not noticed. To explore this phenomenon, Sesko and Biernat conducted five different studies designed to examine the invisibility effect of Black women. The first two studies used 91 White undergraduates for a face recognition test. They were shown photos of Black women, White women, and Black men. The participants were asked to recall the faces in the photos.

In most cases, the participants were unable to recall a substantial number of Black women's pictures. Therefore, the remaining three studies focused on similarities and differences using the same participants. The results showed that the participants could identify the similarity of White women and Black men; however, they could only identify what was different about Black women compared to White women. The collective results from all five studies revealed that Black women were perceived to be invisible due to increased prototypicality. Moreover, this invisibility has also been noted in mainstream workplaces. For example, according to McCluney and Rabelo (2019), when referring to Black women working for General Motors:

In essence, GM did not 'see' their policy as disproportionately impacting Black women because the Black women employees did not stand out as a distinct group, nor was their removal perceived as disrupting organizational processes, indicating low levels of belonging to the company. (p. 145)

# **Barriers to Women Reentering Society Successfully**

African American women experience racism, sexism, and classism before incarceration, and it is worse after incarceration. According to Opsal and Foley (2013), the typical demographics of Black women released from prison are in their 30s; convicted of a non-violent or drug crime; history of childhood abuse; usually has no more than a high school diploma (if any education at all); often has chronic health issues (physical or mental), and was unemployed before her arrest. Once released from jail or prison, these women have a difficult road ahead of them. These women encounter numerous obstacles that complicate their ability to successfully reenter the community (Opsal & Foley, 2013).

Most of the barriers for these women are known and can be addressed early. More specifically, barriers such as not being qualified for jobs, lack of education, and unable to find work could be mapped out before release. Unfortunately, there are not many options for employment assistance given the difficulty ex-cons have with jobs, regardless of race or gender. Also notable is that women may have more difficulty getting employment because many of the jobs available to ex-cons are in industrial labor (e.g., mechanics, agriculture, construction, or landscaping), which are male-dominated jobs.

In general, before former incarceration is even considered, women of color's chances of getting out of poverty are much lower than that of other races. Even recently, Black women were often underqualified, for example, when the surge of tech and other skilled jobs boomed due to a lack of education (Schlager, 2018; Angell et al., 2014). Once former incarceration is added to the equation, the inability to find employment

often leads to these women's return to committing the same crime that initially landed them in prison (Tiburcio, 2008). These crimes are often referred to as "gender-related crimes," i.e., drug-related crimes, assaulting or killing an abusive partner, prostitution, and similar crimes (Thompson, 2008).

These women must navigate complex obstacles that hinder their efforts to survive in the community (Visher et al., 2004). Before being locked up, they may have been dependent on substances or alcohol and have significant medical or mental health issues. Mental health and substance resources are limited inside of the correction facility. Once released, the ex-convict may have to go without treatment because of the community's limited resources (Opsal & Foley, 2013). Due to these women's mental and physical health problems, finding jobs and housing becomes even more challenging. Without employment and a place to live, the women are left with few options but to re-offend. Once a person offends, he/she no longer qualify for federal funding or Section 8 housing vouchers (Keene et al., 2018). When released from prison, they return to neighborhoods with few financial opportunities. Education, job opportunities, and social networks are basic necessities these ex-offenders need to reenter the community successfully (McMahon, 2013).

Case-management services that assist with housing, job placement, education, family reintegration, and mental and physical health care transition for female offenders should begin at least three months before they are released. When inmates participate in programs like Alcoholics or Narcotics Anonymous before their release, their outcomes after their release were improved. Specifically, women who participated in the 12-step

program. Women who participated in the twelve-step program obtained vocational training, were more self-aware, and could more successfully return to the community (Tiburcio, 2008).

# **Experience in the Community**

Perry et al. (2013) maintain that African American women have always been oppressed by society in different domains. However, there has been some success with female ex-convicts who lived in disadvantaged and racially segregated neighborhoods before their arrest. These women of color worked to empower each other and reorganized their lives to succeed and not re-offend (Palmer & Gasman, 2008). These matriarchal women embraced and supported each other, "it takes a village," which is hailed throughout the Black community. In doing so, they not only raised their own children, but they often also cared for children in the community (O'Reilly, 2014), enabling them to be more successful than others who did not have similar support systems. According to Leverentz (2010), African American women were seen as weak and poor and were trained to rely on themselves for help. Self-empowerment gave these women a voice through which they gained their independence (Leverentz, 2010).

Once released from prison, ex-convicts have limited options in deciding where to live, so they end up in disadvantaged, crime-ridden communities. There is little to no assistance by the state to help transition from behind bars to the community. The exconvict is given a small financial voucher and sent on their way. These women often choose to return to their old neighborhoods. For example, Leverentz (2010) suggested that African American women in the inner-city dealing with the intersection of ethnicity,

class, and gender were encouraged to avoid the neighborhood they lived in before their arrest. However, these women saw their old community as an impartial or positive influence for them and the community (Leverentz, 2010).

## **Successfully Transitioning Back into the Community**

Parsons and Warner-Robbins (2002) defined conditions related to women's effective transition back into the community after incarceration. The participants were a part of a faith-based prison-to-home women's ministry called Welcome Home Ministries (WHM). Twenty-seven women were interviewed to ask what assistance most contributed to them successfully reentering the community. Out of the 27 women, 17 stated that the top two were being able to secure housing and employment. For these participants, at least one of these conditions was met as part of the WHM program.

Job readiness for women of color is essential to help minimize recidivism (McLemore et al., 2017). WHM trains its participants as doulas. Training low-income exconvict women to work as doulas is a new approach to solving unemployment difficulties women face when reentering communities from jail. Doulas have an important role as they provide needed support to vulnerable populations by helping to improve birth outcomes. The WHM doula reentry-training program has successfully produced 16 African American women who could achieve gainful employment by working as doulas. None of the program participants has re-offended.

Nicholas et al. (2007) recommended that public policies supporting all exconvicts be put in place to help them find employment, drug treatment programs, housing, and health care to promote reentry effectively into civilization. Access to job training, employment opportunities, and health insurance make reentering society an experience that rebuilds rather than upsets individuals, families, and society (Nicholas, 2007).

Even though in Parson and Warner-Robbins' (2002) study, 17 of the women could secure housing and employment, they still struggled and expressed concern about making it. Parsons and Warner-Robbins (2002) suggested that more understanding is needed on what can be done to help ex-convict women successfully reenter the community and get financial support from the community for faith-based intervention.

#### Recidivism

Some factors that lead to recidivism are poverty (before and after arrest), disparate arrests and convictions, and a lack of social services (healthcare, jobs, education, and childcare). McMahon (2013) asserted that only one in three Black women would successfully reenter the community after an arrest. According to Kubrin et al. (2007), there is a direct relationship between race, disadvantaged neighborhoods, and recidivism. Therefore, one of the reasons Black women are more inclined towards recidivism is that they come from and remain in poverty-stricken, disadvantaged neighborhoods.

In 2002, over 60 percent of the convicts were below the poverty line before incarceration. Furthermore, over 60 percent of incarcerated African Americans did not have a high school diploma (Tyler & Brockmann, 2017). Not only is poverty an issue, but there is also a high rate of disparity and oppression in Black communities. For example, impoverished black neighborhoods are patrolled more often, which increases the number

of arrests. Once released from jail, the inmates return to the same neighborhood, continuing the cycle (Chauhan et al., 2010).

The number of incarcerated women has risen in the past years. Around 18,000 of the prison population are disproportionately African American women. Within two years of being discharged from jail or prison, around 10,440 of these women recidivate, and 3,967.20 be reconvicted. These women have a vast criminal background, are undereducated, and more often than not, drug-dependent (Deschenes et al., 2007).

Just as successful reentry is impacted, significant factors that impact recidivism among African American women include race, class, inequality, substance abuse, mental health disorders, and gender (Burgess-Proctor, 2006). Beyond these factors, housing, employment, and financial support are not an option due to their substance use before and after being incarcerated. Studies have shown that substance and alcohol abuse are a way for these women to cover their pain from physical and sexual abuse (Melchior, 2019). According to Harmon and Boppre (2018), between 1970 and 2012, the rate of black females being convicted of crime rose 828%, three times the rate for Caucasian women. In addition, Black women are more likely than Caucasian women to be arrested for a drug crime and domestic violence. Once arrested, they are more likely to do time than Caucasian women are (Harmon & Boppre, 2018).

Recidivism is likely due to these women not having employment, lacking childcare, racial discrimination, and no social support (Keene et al., 2018). Federal law prohibits anyone convicted of drug possession from receiving public funding for school, childcare, or housing. Therefore, it is legal for property owners and other public housing

to discriminate against ex-convicts by not renting to them or having a specific lease agreement. As housing is challenging, so is gainful employment and adequate social support. For those who have their children, employment is often an issue due to a lack of childcare.

Additionally, women with prison records usually isolate themselves from the community, which precludes them from the network (Willging et al., 2016). Given the limitations of being an ex-felon, without employment and social support, these women cannot legally provide for themselves and their families. Within two years of being released, these women could once again become a victim of the penal system and are reincarcerated (Willging et al., 2016). Victimization, economic marginalization, and abuse are a few forms of oppression these women face that would cause them to fall back into criminal activities (Belknap, 2007).

### **Summary**

Chapter 2 included the conceptual framework and comprehensive review of the literature that supports the need for this research to include discussions on barriers women in the African American community may encounter after incarceration. The literature review provides relevant information regarding ex-convict African American women's barriers, experience reentering the community, successfully transiting back into the community, and recidivism. There is more disparity among women in the African American community than women in other cultures. However, it is worse for African American women that are ex-offenders. There is little information regarding African American matriarch and their experience reentering the community after incarceration.

This study provided an in-depth exploration of the research relating to African American matriarch's experiences reentering the community after incarceration.

The methodology described in Chapter 3 addressed the research questions regarding the women's experiences, design, and the rationale used for this study. I described my role as the researcher of the study and the methodology, issues of trustworthiness, and ethical procedures.

## Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative phenomenological study was to provide new research on the lived experiences of African American matriarchs reentering society after incarceration. Findings from this study seek to identify the specific factors that most impacted these women when they attempted to reenter society after incarceration. The main goal of this study was to address the research questions regarding these matriarchal experiences and their perspectives about self while reentering society after incarceration. This chapter described the research design and rationale, followed by the methodology, data collection procedures, and data analysis. I gathered the lived experience of the participants while reentering society after incarceration. I discussed the research design and rationale, role of the researcher, methodology, participant's selection, recruitment, instrumentation, data collection data analysis, issues of trustworthiness, credibility, transferability, dependability, conformability, and ethical consideration

### **Research Design and Rationale**

This exploratory study about African American matriarch reentry experiences after incarceration examined their perspectives regarding seeking assistance for necessities like employment, housing, and health care. The research method chosen for this study was qualitative, which helped answer the following research questions:

• Research Question 1: In what ways do African American matriarchs describe their experiences when reentering the community after incarceration?

- Research Question 2: In what ways do formerly incarcerated African
   American matriarchs obtain human services (e.g., healthcare, employment, childcare) when reentering society?
- Research Question 3: In what ways do African American matriarchs use social support from family and friends while reentering society?

Qualitative research is used to understand human beings' experiences in a humanistic and interpretive design (Kruth, 2015). The focus is to understand the participants' richly textured experiences and their reflection about their experiences. Qualitative research explorers the understanding and meaning associated with the participants' experience in a social or human situation (Kruth, 2015). The qualitative method was chosen for this study because it allows the researcher to examine participants' responses to questions to understand the study phenomenon.

I used a phenomenological research design to understand and describe the phenomenon and the essence of the participants' lived experiences. Other designs that were considered but were not chosen were ethnography, grounded theory, and case study. Ethnography describes the participant's environment, which requires submersion in the participants' culture (Creswell, 2016). Grounded theory provides an abstract explanation or theory related to the information, not the participants' experience or perspective, which was the focus of the current study. Additionally, the design does not align with this study's conceptual framework, CRT (Kruth, 2015). Finally, case studies are used to investigate contemporary real-life phenomena through detailed contextual analysis number of occurrences or disorders and their relationships. The researcher collects

detailed information using different data collection techniques over time (Yin, 2014).

Due to the nature of the study, case study was also deemed inappropriate. The chosen design for this study was a phenomenological research design.

To capture and understand the lived experiences and perspectives of African American matriarchs after incarceration, the phenomenological interpretive design was chosen. Two phenomenological designs were considered: the phenomenological descriptive design and the phenomenological interpretative design. A phenomenological descriptive design is known as transcendental phenomenology, in which the researcher exists with the phenomenon, and the essences and cannot be bracketed off from how one identifies the essence of a phenomenon (Kruth, 2015). The phenomenological interpretative design aligned better with this study than the descriptive design. Interpretive phenomenology analysis (IPA) was chosen because it refers to the lived experiences, thoughts, and techniques used to analyze questions about experiences and perspectives (Amour-Burton, 2020), which I applied to African American matriarchs. IPA focuses on a thorough description and interpretation of individuals' lived experience. The steps of IPA were to (a) assume the phenomenological attitude, (b) read the complete written account to understand the whole, (c) describe meaning units, (d) transform the meaning units into statements of these women's lived experiences, and (e) synthesize data and the psychological makeup of the women's experience base on the features of their experience (see Giorgi & Giorgi, 2017).

#### Role of the Researcher

The researcher's role was that of an outsider observer participant concerning exconvict African American matriarchs. As the researcher, I used the participants' information to better understand their lived experiences (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). I did this by (a) ensuring that the study was explained without biases, (b) constructing interviews correctly and according to the research design, (c) conducting appropriate observations, (d) being aware of any threats to internal or external validity, and (e) analyzing and interpreting the data correctly (Karagiozis, 2018). Once I understood the participant's perspective, I interpreted the participant's lived experiences. No personal or professional relationship existed between me and the participants (Karagiozis, 2018).

Additionally, the researcher should identify any personal bias early in the research that could potentially affect the study (Creswell, 2014). The two most common biases in qualitative research are selection bias and information bias (Polit, 2014). To avoid selection bias, I ensured that the participants selected were representative of the population being studied. To avoid information bias, I allowed the participants to review their interview transcripts for accuracy (Polit, 2014). I used open-ended questions to collect data and answer the guided questions, and responses were recorded verbatim. I showed sensitivity, trustfulness, respect, and was ethical at all times. I also considered my personal bias and beliefs to understand how these may affect the data outcome (Kruth, 2015).

# Methodology

## **Participant Selection**

The participants consisted of African American matriarch ex-convicts who were mothers and heads of their households returning to their roles in society. This study's inclusion criteria included African American females with children considered the head of her house upon arrest. The participants must also be an ex-convict who was not on parole, under supervision, or on probation. The participant must be seeking or have used reentry services. The participant must be similar to the population being studied.

Five to 25 participants is sufficient to reach saturation for the phenomenological design (Charmaz, 2006; Creswell, 2018; Morse, 1994), though other researchers have recommended fewer than 10 participants to enhance the validity of the study and the indepth inquiry when conducting interviews for qualitative research (Crouch & McKenzie, 2006. A small study with moderate claims may reach saturation quicker than a study seeking to describe a process that covers different phenomena. Therefore, the participants for this study were 15 African American matriarch ex-offenders between the age of 32–65 who were clients at a local nonprofit agency that provides reentry services and counseling.

#### Recruitment

Participants were recruited via flyers posted in an approved public area at a local nonprofit agency that provided reentry services and counseling. Interested participants were instructed to call me to ensure they qualified for the study. Screening questions included gender, race, if they were parents, an ex-convict not on parole, and if they were

a matriarch. An overview of the study was provided to the participants, including the study's length and information regarding confidentiality. Before conducting the research, each participant was given an informed consent form that details the study's purpose, any risks involved, and the benefits of the study. Participants received a \$10 Visa gift card as a thank you for their participation. Participants were informed that they could withdraw from the study at any time without penalty.

### Instrumentation

This qualitative study utilized semi-structured face-to-face interviews with ten open-ended questions. The interviews were flexible and interactive. Given the potential network of participants, a snowball sampling was also used due to too few participants (Creswell, 2018). According to Barrett and Twycross (2018), interviews are an excellent way to better understand the participants and capture their experiences. The researcher read the questions to the participants and recorded the answers both digitally and via hand-written notes. The questions focused on the participant's lived experiences regarding their reentry process.

Content validity is the extent to which the questions and scores on an instrument represent all potential questions that could be asked about a phenomenon to provide a preliminary assessment of the internal consistency of each item; and to improve the questions, format, and instructions (Creswell, 2018). The researcher stops collecting data when all categories and themes are saturated. Saturation is achieved when there is an adequate sample and collecting additional data no longer reveals new information (Creswell, 2018).

To add credibility to the study member check was used. Member check is a central part of establishing credibility in a study. It consists of giving the participants a copy of the transcript to confirm the credibility of the data collected. The participants were allowed to add or delete any information before approving the transcript. The researcher asked each participant to verify their transcript, that the themes made sense, and that their information was accurate. The participant's comments were incorporated into the final transcript, allowing the participants to add credibility to the collected data (Creswell, 2018).

#### **Data Collection**

The data was collected using a semi-structured interview with ten open-ended questions. The interviews were conducted via teleconference or videoconference. With the participant's consent, the researcher used a voice recorder to record the participant's experiences accurately. A second mobile voice recorder was available in case of equipment failure. The participants provided and signed informed consent before the interview. The interviews took between 50 and 90 minutes. The participants were informed that they could opt-out of the research any time during the process without penalty. The participants were allowed to ask questions before and after the process. A member check established credibility for the data interpretation extracted from the participant's response. A second appointment was made with the participants for member check.

All data were organized using NVivo software. NVivo is a data analysis software used to analyze, create audio transcripts, organize, code, and conduct data analysis more

effectively. The interviews were transcribed, organized, and reviewed by the researcher.

The participants received a copy of the final transcript. The data will be kept on a password-protected laptop for five years.

#### Interviews

Once contacted by the participants, I determined if the interview would be via teleconference or videoconference. I conducted the interviews in a secure and confidential office with a closed door. The participant was allowed to select the location of the interview. The participant was informed that a public place is not guaranteed to be confidential. If the interviews were conducted via teleconference or videoconference, it was the participant's responsibility to ensure that they were in a secure location during the interview. Once the participant confirmed a location, I explained the study and provided her a copy of the consent form to sign via email or verbally. I then answered any questions before the interview. When the interview was completed, I answered any additional questions the participant may have had.

### Debriefing

The participants were debriefed at the end of the interview. The researcher answered any questions the participants had and informed them of the follow-up call one week after the interview to ensure that all of her questions were answered sufficiently. If the participants experience any emotional distress as they describe their reentry experiences, arrangements were made with their current agency that allocated free sessions to address any feelings that may have arisen during or after the interview.

# Data Analysis

This study used data analysis to identify patterns and themes in data collected regarding the participant's lived experiences. The researcher looked for patterns that identify themes in their shared experiences reentering the community. The researcher grouped and labeled like themes that were identified during the data collection.

Coding is an essential part of qualitative research when using interviews to collect data. The data must be transcribed before the data can be coded. When coding, the researcher must make sure the information is accurate and that the information is not misinterpreted or misunderstood. Coding can be done in several ways, including hand or digitally (Parameswaran et al., 2020). This research was coded using NVivo, which was used to analyze unstructured text when using interviews for qualitative research. The software analyzed and organized unstructured information (Creswell, 2018). Next, the interviews were transcribed using Microsoft Word. The data collected from the interviews was simplified and transformed by identifying behaviors, attitudes, and themes within the data. The data were coded and examined using short words and phrases to convey the participant's experiences. The data was used to provide a comprehensive analysis of the participant's experiences while reentering society.

#### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

When conducting qualitative research, it is essential to ensure that the data collected and reported is trustworthy. Creswell (2018) suggests four essential areas that should be addressed to mitigate issues with trustworthiness. The four areas are credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability (Amankwaa, 2016; Creswell, 2018).

These techniques were used in this study to assess the trustworthiness of the research. Member checks were used to establish credibility for the data interpretation extracted from the participant's response. Member check was also used to determine the accuracy of the qualitative findings as experienced by the participants. The participants were given a copy of their transcript as an additional check for accuracy (Maxwell, 2013; Creswell, 2018).

# Credibility

Credibility is the extent to which the research is believable, true and that the research is conducted to describe the participant's experiences and perspective and not the researcher. Credibility must be established in qualitative research to ensure the results' validity and reliability (Patton, 2014). Amankwaa (2016) confirmed that one way to check for credibility is by using member checking. Member checks control for research bias and increase qualitative research findings' credibility and accuracy when interpreting the data. Member checks also allow the participants to view a copy of their transcript to ensure their statement is accurate. After the interview, each participant was given a copy of their transcript and asked to verify the information for correctness. If a member check is not completed, the participant must agree to the use of the collected data without it. The researcher reviewed the final document with each participant to ensure that the data was correct. Once the research was finalized, each participant was given a copy of the final document (DeCino & Waalkes, 2019).

## **Transferability**

Transferability is the degree to which the research findings can be transferred to other contexts using similar surveys (Carl & Ravitch, 2016). Creswell (2018) posits that providing thick, rich descriptions allows other researchers to share the experiences as the participants see them. A rich and robust analysis of the participants' data provided the context and information that allowed the reader to decide if the findings could be transferred to similar settings. Qualitative research can enhance transferability due to its rich description and information; however, transferability is at the discretion of the person doing the generalizing.

## **Dependability**

Dependability refers to the study's methodology and the extent that the research is reliable across time, researchers, and data (Morse, 2015). Dependability allows the participants to evaluate the study's findings to ensure that the data recorded and the interpretations are the participants. According to Creswell (2018), the researcher should document the research step by step to ensure that the study can be replicated. This study's process and findings were documented and tracked using an audit trail to ensure that the research is replicable. An audit trail is a detailed, chronological documentation of the research process, analysis, emerging themes, categories, and memos recorded throughout the process. An audit trail allowed the reader to follow a researcher's logic and decide if the study's findings may be a trusted platform for additional investigation (Mores, 2015). The dissertation committee members conducted an audit trail to establish dependability

for this study. The committee also reviewed all research results to ensure that the study is documented and replicable and that other researchers can achieve similar results.

# **Conformability**

Conformability is the degree to which another researcher can confirm the findings of the study. The researcher must ensure that the study's findings represent the participants' experiences and perspectives and not that of the researcher (Morse, 2015). The integrity of the findings is in the data, and it is the researcher's responsibility to connect the data, analytic process, and findings so that the reader can confirm the findings (Amankwaa, 2016). This study utilized reflectivity. Reflectivity is the researcher's self-appraisal to confirm that their own biases, preferences, and preconceptions do not influence their relationship with the participant and their reply to the interview.

According to Creswell (2018), reflexivity is when researchers take notes during the process, focus on their own personal experiences, and reflect on how their personal experiences may affect the findings. Moreover, the researchers ensured that their personal bias and experiences did not affect the research's content or methods in this study.

#### **Ethical Consideration**

Before data was collected in this study, the researcher submitted a proposal to Walden University's Institutional Review Board to secure approval (approval no. 03-16-21-0175067). The researcher was mindful of any at-risk participants and avoided deceptive practices that misrepresented the research's purpose or benefits. Next, approval was obtained from the social service agency where the data was collected. The social

service agency received and approved a copy of the information and questionnaire used in the research.

After institutional review board and the agency's approval, a flyer was posted at the agency-requesting volunteers for the study. The flyer provided information outlining the study's purpose, eligibility requirements, and how to contact the researcher to participate. In addition, participants were presented with informed consent before the data collection process. The consent form included a confidentiality agreement, the study's purpose, the recruitment process, the benefits, potential harm, the significance, and permission to use a tape recorder. The participant was also informed that free therapy sessions would be allocated if they experience any distress due to the interview. The services were provided by their current agency, with which I have no affiliation. Finally, the participants were informed that the research was voluntary, and they could stop the interview at any time during the research without penalty.

### **Summary**

Chapter 3 addressed the research design and rationale behind the phenomenon being researched. The role of the researcher and the chosen methodology was addressed. Participant selection logic, and procedures, and how participants were recruited were explained. The data collection, data analysis, issues of trustworthiness, and ethical procedures were also explained. Chapter 4 covered a detailed analysis of how the data was collected.

## Chapter 4: Results

In this qualitative study, the focus was on African American matriarchs' experiences with reentry after incarceration. Data were collected that described the reintegration experiences of African American matriarchs between the age of 32–65 who had spent between 4 and 25 years in prison. Chapter 4 includes a description of the setting in which data collection took place, the demographics of the participants in the study, and an analysis of the data collection. This chapter also includes the number of participants, the location, data collected, and the duration of data collection. The Data Analysis section includes a discussion of the categories and themes and any discrepancies with the cases. Finally, Chapter 4 ends with evidence of trustworthiness, a discussion about the credibility and transferability of the analysis, and finally, the study results and summary of the chapter.

### Setting

The interviews were conducted in a major city in Illinois via tele or video conference, and all efforts to ensure privacy and confidentiality by both the researcher and participant were completed. All interviews were conducted in a private room in my home. Similarly, all participants were also advised to find a location where they could communicate privately without interruptions. My room contained two laptops, two cell phones, and two voice recorders in case of equipment failure. Each interview lasted approximately 60 minutes.

## **Demographics**

This study included 15 African American matriarchs ranging in age from 32 to 65 years old. The participants' time in prison ranged from 4 years to 25 years. Before this study, each participant had been released from prison for at least 5 years and was not on parole or probation. All participants were in the process of reintegrating and reestablishing their lives back into the community. Among them, eight were employed, and seven were unemployed. Currently, the participants' education level ranges from eighth grade to bachelor's degrees. All the participants are mothers reuniting with their children or attempting to regain custody of their children. Four of the participants were married, two were divorced, and nine were single. Table 1 shows the demographic information provided by the participants.

Table 1

Demographics of Participants

Participants	Age	Marital Status	No. of children	Level of Education	Employment Status	Years in Prison
			Cilitaten			
Lily A.	32	S	1	11 <sup>th</sup>	Unemployed	4
Angel	33	S	2	. 9 <sup>th</sup>	Unemployed	18
Carolyn	36	S	2	9ф .	Public Assistance	4
Daphanie	43	M	4	GED	Employed	6
Sylvia	43	S	3	12 <sup>th</sup>	Employed	10
Annie	44	S	3	9 <sup>th</sup>	Public	8
					Assistance	
Gwen	45	M	1	Associate	Employed	10
Mesha	45	S	4	10 <sup>th</sup>	Employed	8
Maggie	49	M	4	10 <sup>th</sup>	Unemployed	5
Fay	54	S	1	12 <sup>th</sup>	Employed	4
Jasmine	54	M	3	9њ	Employed	22
Jo Jo	57	D	2	9 <sup>th</sup>	Employed	25
Sandra	61	S	1	Bachelor	Employed	8
Lily C.	63	S	2	8 <sup>th</sup>	Public	20
<b>J</b>					Assistance	
Lee	65	D	3	9 <sup>th</sup>	SSI	18

Upon initial contact, each potential participant was asked six pre-interview questions via phone or email to verify that they qualified for the study. Twenty-three potential participants were screened, and 15 qualified for the study. For this study, nine participants were recruited via a recruitment flyer posted at a local social service agency in a major city in the Midwestern United States. Six additional participants were recruited via snowballing from the first nine participants. The 15 semistructured interviews included a series of 10 open-ended questions designed to induce an exploration of the participants' lived experiences (see Appendix).

A description of the study was provided to each potential participant via phone or email, and all the participants' questions were answered. Six participants were provided with an email copy of the consent form, and nine gave verbal consent via the phone or teleconference. The study parameters were reviewed with each participant before starting the interview, and each participant was permitted time to ask questions. In addition, participants were told that they could withdraw at any time during the process, and each participant would receive a \$15.00 gift card as a thank you.

The interviews were held on 10 different days to accommodate the participants' schedules. Six interviews were conducted via teleconferencing, and nine were via telephone. The duration of the interviews was about 60 minutes. Before beginning the interviews, participants were allowed time via casual conversation to get comfortable with sharing information about their reentry experiences. Each participant was interviewed only once beyond the prequalification questions.

With the consent of the participants, a tape recorder was used along with hand-written notes to capture the participants' physical appearances, expressions, or other nuances. In addition, participants were debriefed after their interview and were provided an opportunity to express any concerns regarding their participation in the study. They were also encouraged to discuss any discomfort they may have experienced during their participation in the study. Finally, each participant was provided a transcribed copy of their interview to ensure the accuracy of its content, along with a \$15.00 Visa gift card as a thank you for her participation.

## **Data Analysis**

The following steps were used to analyze the data for this research. According to Creswell (2019), the four steps of organizing qualitative data are: organize the data, code the data, discover descriptions and themes, and report the findings. First, the data were collected using semistructured tele/video conference interviews. Next, the interviews were recorded using an audio recorder to ensure accuracy. Then I recorded and transcribed the data. Finally, Microsoft Word was used to transcribe the interview responses, and NVivo was used to code, organize, and analyze the data. NVivo allowed me to analyze each interview for specific words and themes. From this effort, a list of codewords was created for each interview. After narrowing the words and forming clusters, specific themes emerged among the participants. In addition, NVivo enabled the identification of direct quotes, which helped minimize researcher bias. Further, detailed descriptions were used to maintain the breadth and depth of the meaning of what the participants said about their reentry experiences. These descriptions provided the

foundation for a reflective structural analysis that depicted the overall meaning of the participant's experiences centered on their individual stories.

The emergent categories from the NVivo analysis were: (a) education, (b) housing, (c) employment, and (d) family. The perceptions and experiences from these women were first sectioned into these four categories, then later reorganized into primary and subthemes. The themes were also aligned with the time these women spent in prison and their level of education.

### **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

Trustworthiness strengthens the significance of the study (Amankwaa, 2016), which involves credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

Trustworthiness is the degree that the research is thorough and accurate, which was demonstrated through a consistent, precise, and exhaustive analysis of the data collection.

Credibility

Credibility ensures that the study results are believable and focus on the richness of the information collected instead of the amount of information collected (Amin et al., 2020). The participants were asked to provide honest and accurate responses as part of the research. The participants' responses were also recorded and transcribed verbatim to ensure credibility. Researcher field notes were also used to keep a record of the participant's non-verbal communication. In addition, each participant was asked to review the transcript of her interview to ensure that the information was accurate.

## **Transferability**

Transferability is achieved if the findings from a study can be generalized or are applicable in other settings (Amankwaa, 2016; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). To ensure the transferability of this study, I documented the entire process, including the documentation of the rich, detailed descriptions of the participants' perspective and experiences reentering the community after incarceration. Evidence of the study's findings was also presented. Detailed information was presented regarding the recruiting and selection process. Member checking was used to ensure the accuracy of the interviews and what the participants conveyed.

## **Dependability**

Dependability refers to whether the study's method and findings are consistent and can be repeated by other researchers (Morse, 2015). An audio recorder was used to record the interviews, which were transcribed verbatim to establish dependability. The process of acquiring the data was also documented to establish dependability. The transcribed data was based solely on the experiences of the participants and not the researcher. The transcripts were also reviewed several times for accuracy by both me and participant.

## **Confirmability**

Confirmability is impartiality to how the findings are formed and supported when the data was collected (Amankwaa, 2016). Research bias could be due to the assumption that qualitative research allows the researcher to bring a unique perspective to the study. Research bias can be avoided by using an audit trial (Mores, 2015). For this study, an

audit trail was used to establish confirmability. Specifically, this study includes a detailed description of how the study was conducted and how the data was collected. Reflexivity is the researcher taking notes during the entire process. As the researcher, I focused on my own personal experiences and contemplated on how my personal feelings and experiences may have affected the results. However, my personal bias and experiences did not affect the research's content or methods.

### **Results**

Three research questions and 10 interview questions guided this study. The research questions guiding this study were

- 1. In what ways do African American matriarchs describe their experiences when reentering the community after incarceration?
- 2. In what ways do formerly incarcerated African American matriarchs obtain human services (e.g., healthcare, employment, childcare) when reentering society?
- 3. In what ways has race impacted reentry into society for formerly incarcerated African American matriarchs?

The interview questions were

- 1. Where did you live after your release?
- 2. Describe your experience getting financial assistance?
- 3. Describe how reentry services helped you?
- 4. Describe your experience reuniting with your family.
- 5. Describe the process of regaining custody of your children.

- 6. Describe your experience seeking employment.
- 7. Describe your experiences seeking medical services.
- 8. Describe your experience reentering your community.
- 9. What do you think can be done differently to support matriarchs reentering their community?
- 10. Describe any barriers that may have affected your reentry process.

These interview questions were created to address the research questions and acquire full, descriptions of participants' lived experiences when reentering their community after incarceration. The 10 questions focused on the following areas: the reentry process, belief in self, finding employment, reintegrating with family, finding housing, demographics, medical assistance, reentering the community, and regaining custody of children. The responses to these questions and accompanying descriptions of the lived experiences provided by the participants produced five primary themes and several subthemes. Table 2 highlights the final primary and subthemes from this analysis.

**Table 2**Themes and Subthemes

Primary Themes	Subthemes		
Belief in Self	Ethnicity		
Finding Housing	Education		
Finding Employment	Getting custody of children		
Family Support	Reentry services		
Reentry Experiences	Job readiness		

The research question presented the results, highlighting the specific theme and subthemes that were applicable and appropriate for its response. Each theme and

subtheme includes direct quotations and/or detailed descriptions from participants that best capture the essence of that theme. All participant names use an alias to protect their identity while allowing continuity of their specific responses across themes. In addition, the specific interview questions that align with the research question are provided.

## **Research Question 1**

To better understand the participants' experiences when reentering their communities, eight interview questions related to the participants' experiences: Interview Questions 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 10. In general, the participants' response to these interview questions revealed that most of the participants were stressed about the support they received concerning financial assistance, reentry support, reuniting with their family and children, seeking employment, medical services, and reentering the community after incarceration.

## **Research Question 2**

To better understand the participants' experience obtaining human services (e.g., health care, employment, childcare) when reentering society, five interview questions related to the participant's experiences: Interview Questions 2, 5,6, 7, and 10. The participants' responses to these interview questions revealed that they felt it was difficult to seek human services during reentry. For example, all the participants said that health care was essential but was not a priority compared to employment and regaining custody of their children or grandchildren.

# **Research Question 3**

To better understand how race impacted the participants' reentry experience, five interview questions related to the participants' experiences. Specifically, interview questions 2,7,8,9 and 10 provided data for these questions. The participants' responses to these interview questions revealed that all of the participants felt that race was a factor in them successfully reintegrating back into society. The women felt that if they were not African American, reintegration might be a little easier.

#### Theme 1: Belief in Self

Eleven of the fifteen participants expressed some form of belief in themselves. The women felt that without belief in self, they would not have survived. Five of the women specifically expressed a feeling of future hope. They expressed the need to improve their current situation and become productive citizens. Even after spending years in prison, they felt that they could be productive in society. Some of the participants stated that they knew that life would not be accessible after incarceration. Some of the women talked about how thankful they were to be free and out of prison. Most were grateful for their family. Some of the women also expressed how their friends and family stood behind them in their time of need. The following participant descriptions further highlight the "Belief in Self" theme:

• Sandra stated that because she was black, female, and an ex-convict that she would have to work ten times as hard as the average female to be successful.

She stated that she was successful before she was arrested and was a success after

incarceration. Sandra stated that she was in school working on her Associate degree and was hopeful that her being incarcerated would not be held against her.

- Jo Jo is a 57-year-old matriarch and mother of two who stated that she had been to prison three times, but this time would be different. She felt that because she was a Black woman, the cards were stacked against her. She stated that both of her children were born in prison. She said, "I am a good mother and have been out of prison for three years, and I am looking for a job. I have five grandchildren that need me because they are in foster care." She said that she would never go back to jail.
- Gwen stated that she knew that she would be all right after prison. Gwen said that she was in prison for nine years, 11 months, and 12 days. Gwen stated, "While in prison, I wrote two books and my amazing family had them published." Gwen indicated that she has a supportive family that is also close. Once released from prison, she was sent to a halfway house. The royalties from her books were enough to take care of her needs. Once back in her hometown, she worked for her cousin, who owns his own business. Gwen never doubted that she would be ok after she was released. She now owns her own business.
- Maggie is a very shy and quiet forty-nine-year-old matriarch. Maggie stated that she should not have been in prison. Maggie is a mother of four children, two she had before she went to prison, and two more were born after she was released from prison. Maggie stated that "My children are my reason for living. "I had to fight to regain custody of my children and grandchildren" "I am

hopeful that I can rekindle my relationship with the older two," Maggie stated that she was not the smartest person, but she figured out how to make away. Maggie is currently the caretaker for her parents, her two young children, and three grandchildren.

- Participant number two refused to give her name and is referred to in the study as Angel. Angel is thirty-three years old with two children. The participant was first in prison for six years, was out for three years, and then went back for another twelve years on an unrelated charge. Angel stated that she was hopeful that this time would be different. She stated that she did not have a role model growing up: "My momma was in prison most of my life, and I don't want to be like her." Angel stated that she was having a hard time finding employment, but she wanted to break the cycle. Her children are fourteen and sixteen; she does not want them to "follow in her footsteps." Currently, she is trying to regain custody of her children.
- Mesha is a 45-year-old employed mother of 4. Mesha has a 10th-grade education and spent eight years in prison. During the interview, Mesha and expressed her fears, weakness, and strengths. Mesha stated that even though she appeared to be strong and resilient, sometimes appearances can be deceiving.
- Fay is a single 54 years old, employed mother of one child. Fay stated, "I spent four years in prison for trying to feed my children; I took some food from a store and got caught. I bet if I was white, I would not have even gotten arrested.

"When I got out, I had to fight to get custody of my child." I am a strong, Black woman, so I did what I had to do."

- Daphanie said that she had to be strong to keep from being crushed by the system. Daphanie stated, "Children protective services are making me fight for my kids. It is not right; I was a good mother."
- Carolyn stated, "If it was not for my family, I would not have made it because the system is designed for black women to fail."

## **Theme 2: Finding Housing**

When reentering society after incarceration, some ex-offenders may experience homelessness (Asberg & Renk, 2015). During the interview, the participants were asked where they lived after their release. All fifteen participants stated that their first concern was finding a place to live upon being released from prison. However, being an ex-offender made it difficult for these women to find housing. The following descriptions highlight some of the issues the participants had surrounding housing:

• Gwen stated that she was lucky because her parents allowed her to come back home after spending six months in a halfway house. Gwen stated, "Without permanent housing, I was not able to get a state ID or even apply for a job. My parents let me use their home phone to apply for jobs." Gwen stated that once she finds a place of her own to live, she could then work on regaining custody of her daughter.

- Participant 2 said, "I have no one and nowhere to go. The day I was released, I so badly wanted to find a place to stay so I could get my kids back. My mama also needed me; she is struggling too."
- Daphanie stated that she returned to her neighborhood. "I lived with some old friends for a little while, but I still didn't have custody of my daughter. I really wanted her with me...My older kids didn't want nothing to do with me."
- JoJo stated that housing was a priority, but she went from prison to a transition house.
- Maggie stated that she also lived in a transition home she said, "I ain't have nowhere to go, I couldn't get an apartment cause I was a felon; nobody wanted to rent to me. My family was living with people too. I had to figure out how to take care of them too."
- Jasmine said she never thought about where she would live after she was released. She stated she was simply happy to be free. Jasmine stated that she lived in a shelter until she got a job cleaning office building.
- Annie's mom had custody of her children and allowed her to move in with them. Annie had three children - two before her arrest and one after.
- Lily C. stated that she applied for public assistance and was approved a week later. She was able to get income-based housing in the same building she lived in before her arrest.
- Sandra lived with her parents after spending time in a halfway house. "I was blessed to have come from a family that supported me. They had my back."

- Carolyn stated that she "lived on the streets."
- Lee somehow managed to care for her children even while in prison. She had a home waiting for her after she was released. Lee resumed her role as matriarch of the family.
- Mesha, Fay, Sylvia and Lily A. all moved in with family after they were released from prison.

## **Theme 3: Finding Employment**

Another barrier faced by ex-offender matriarchs reentering society is finding employment. Finding and maintaining a job is a critical part of reentry; however, some employers are hesitant to hire people with a criminal background. Most ex-offenders usually work in temporary jobs or not-for-profit agencies. Williams et al. (2019) stated that employment is the number one necessity for ex-offenders to reenter the community successfully. The participants were asked to describe their experience seeking employment.

- Daphanie stated that she was a part of the job reentry program once she was released; however, she was unsuccessful. Daphanie stated, "I tried really hard to find a job. Because I was an ex-con and black, it was hard to find anything. They sent me on a lot of interviews, but when they discovered that I had a record, their attitude changed. Therefore, I had to figure out how to support myself. I currently own my own daycare center and making good money too."
- Sandra stated, "I was determined to provide for myself. I got a job working as an assistant at a university in the upper Midwest US."

- Angel stated, "I had a hard time finding a job, so I just had to make it do what it do. I work a lot of cash jobs or laborer jobs through temp agencies."
- Jasmine stated, "She got a job cleaning up."
- Jo Jo stated that she was able to get a job as a bus driver. "As a black woman, the system do not care if we make it or not. I got locked up for drugs three times over a 25-year period and each time I got out and the bus company gave me my job back, but they said this is the last time."
- Maggie stated that she could not get public assistance when she was released. She worked in a factory and commented, "There are a lot of Black and Hispanic people working here that can't get a normal job."
- Annie said, "I tried to get into a treatment center, but they told me no. I don't understand why, but I got clean on my own. I am still on public assistance and is coming to this social service agency to get some job training...They said that they have places that would hire me and give me a second chance."
- Sylvia states that she works in the family dry cleaning business. "I am lucky; my family has their own business. I just got with the wrong crowd and ended up doing time."
- Gwen stated, Black people don't stand a chance in this world. Even in prison they were racist. "I wrote two books while in prison. I also wrote a play.

  My cousin got the books published for me before I got out. The money from my books went to my family. My daughter and mom is well taken care of. After I was

released from prison my cousin gave me a job in his clinic; he is a doctor. I now have my own business."

- Lily A. said, "I live with my parents; they take care of my child for me. I
  am back in school getting my GED and hoping this make a difference in my
  family's life."
- Mesha stated, "It was hard out there, I did not seek public assistance because they would only give me about five hundred a month for me and my youngest child. I started selling dinners. I would cook a lot of food, make plates and go around to different beauty, barbershop, and sell them. People always saying that I should own my own business. So, I did it. I got my sanitation license and city license and now I have a catering business."
- Fay said, "While in prison they had this doula training class. I didn't really know what it was, but I took it just to have something to do. I never thought someone would hire me to be an emotion support person, but they did. I work at an agency that assigns me to people in need."
- Carolyn states, I work in a factory, but it took me a long time to get that.

  They pay me less than the other people that ain't been to prison."
- Lily C and Lee are both unemployed and receive public assistance.

### **Theme 4: Family Support**

Family support was very important to the participants when reintegrating back into the community and into the family. Some of the women explained in detail how family support played an important role in their lives as they reintegrated back into

society. Nine of the women had a positive experience reuniting with their families. Three of the participants had negative experiences, and three did not want to talk about their experiences reintegrating with their families. Some of the women explained how their families no longer wanted to reunite with them. Others spoke about how they lost custody of their younger children, and their adult children wanted nothing more to do with them. The following descriptions and anecdotes from the participants highlight this theme:

- Jasmine said, "I have three kids that are in prison, and my family don't want to be around me anymore. I am all alone now. I got some home girls but that is it."
- Maggie state, "My kids were not too happy to see me cause they didn't know me no more."
- Lily C. lives with her son and his girlfriend.
- Mesha stated, "My family was happy to see me. They really missed me."
- Jo Jo stated, "I had friends and family to pick me up at the gates when I was released. They said that I could live with them, but they was ready to party. I had to find different friends because that's what got me locked up in the first place...My family did come through when I needed them, but I can't live with them."
- Sandra said, "My family took really good care of me; we are a very close family."
- Annie said, "My mom and sisters were happy to see me; they showed me love."

- Gwen stated that her family was very close.
- Lily A. and Sylvia lived with their families after being released. They both felt that taking care of family is what family is supposed to do.

## **Theme 5: Reentry Experience**

Successfully reentering back into the community can be difficult for ex-offenders. The process can be even harder for African American matriarchs due to disparity. In this study, the term reentry process is defined by the participant's experiences and perspective as they navigate the system reuniting back into society. The following participant commentary highlights their responses:

- Jasmine stated, "The process was very hard. Just like I said before, my kids are in prison and if the process was a little bit easier, they probably would got the help they needed. Nobody really told me how to do nothing. The first thing we need is a place to stay and it was hard finding somewhere to go."
- Gwen stated, "The process itself was difficult but I had help. As I said before my family was there for me. These people need to understand that they can't keep doing the same thing they were doing before. It is hard for black people to make it and even harder if you are an ex-con."
- Annie stated, "People look at me weird; I could tell they were talking about me, but I don't care. The very people that supposed to be helping me are the ones that look down on me. They treated me like I had the plague. But if it wasn't for my family, I would probably be back in prison. They help me find this agency."

- Sandra stated, "Being an ex-offender was not the only thing that made the process difficult. Being an African American woman also played a part in it. I did not have to use a reentry service because I had my family. But the process in general, yes, it was difficult."
- Jo Jo: "The same people that I left in the hood was still there when I got back. When I left prison all I had was a bag of my personal stuff. I didn't know how to care for myself. I was referred to this social services that helped me with everything, and I am grateful for their help."
- Mesha said, "Well I had to move to a new neighborhood if I wanted to do better for me and my kids. My family was a big help when I got out, but it was still hard being in my community because I was always judged, but the process was not."
- Lily C stated, "I didn't go back to my old neighborhood. I moved in with my kids. I am at a different stage in my life now. I asked people that had went through the process for help. I am doing ok now."
- Fay stated, "My experiences was not too bad; I had a trade and got a job."
- Angel, "I have always made a way and I have figured out how to make it this time too. I am good."
- Lily A. stated, "I knew people on the outside that had been in prison before me; they told me what to do and how to make it."

- Sylvia stated, "My experience reentering was not that bad because I had family and they made the process a lot easier for me. I didn't have to struggle, and I had a bed and food every night."
- Maggie, stated, no one an ex-offender in their neighbor especially a Black one".
- Daphanie, felt the process of reentering was difficult. she did not know what to do or where to go for help.
- Lee also felt that being Black was a major barrier in reentering the community.
- Carolyn stated, "I was lost; I needed someone to tell me when to get up, eat or sleep."
- Some women even stated, "They made it in the community through trial and error."

#### **Summary**

The results of this research study highlighted the lived experiences of African American Matriarch ex-offenders reentering society after incarceration. The subthemes that emerged were 1) ethnicity, 2) education, 3) community, 4) reentry resources, and 5) job readiness. Most (70%) of the participants believed in themselves - the women felt if they did not believe in themselves, no one would. However, some of the women felt sad and hopeless due to their circumstances. Some of the women had children in prison and wanted to be an example to them when they returned home. 73% of the women could find housing by living with family, yet the remaining 27% were homeless or living in a

shelter following incarceration. Most of the participants were employed - about a fourth (26%) of the participants were unemployed; 20% were self-employed, and 14% were employed by the family. More than half (60%) of the participants reported a positive experience when reentering their community, while a fifth (20%) each reported a negative experience or refused to respond to the question.

Chapter 5 presents an overview of the study and an in-depth interpretation of the findings. Chapter 5 also includes a discussion of the study's limitations, recommendations for future research, an implication for social change, and the study's conclusion.

## Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to provide new research on the lived experiences of African American matriarchs reentering society after incarceration. These women's experiences could help provide a better reentry experience for other matriarchs once released from prison. Their experiences could also help change laws relating to the reentry process, leading to an understanding of what these women encounter when reentering the community. Chapter 5 presents the findings' interpretation and discusses the implications, recommendations, and final conclusions of the results. Based on the interviews with 15 African American ex-offender matriarchs with reentry experiences, this qualitative phenomenological research can shed light on these women's perspectives and experiences when reentering society after incarceration.

## **Interpretation of Findings**

The five primary themes that emerged from these interviews included belief in self, finding housing, finding employment, family support, and reentry experiences, further supporting that African American matriarch ex-offenders experience unique challenges due to their race and status as mothers. The findings for this study both aligned and did not align with previous research regarding women ex-offenders reentering society after incarceration. For instance, this study's outcomes align with research stating that returning home from prison is a traumatic but exciting event (Anderson & Pitner, 2018). Once released from prison, the participants demonstrated a fear of the unknown; that fear was exacerbated when the women revealed their

experience seeking a place to live after being released. The women did not know where they would live or how they would survive daily.

Despite the challenges, for some of these women, the challenges increased their belief in self because without belief in themselves, they would not have been successfully reentering their community after incarceration. Because of their belief, some of these women could find a place to live and care for their families. Previous research has also shown that self-empowerment allows these women to find their voice and gain their independence (Leverentz, 2010). The participants felt that if they did not believe in themselves, no one else would. African American women struggled before they were incarcerated and knew it would be more difficult as ex-offenders once released from prison.

Compounding these issues, most women lacked formal education and lost custody of their children once arrested. Although housing was essential to these women, regaining custody of their children was also important. Most women, when arrested, are the sole support for their families (Brown, 2010). Once the matriarch is imprisoned, their children usually end up in foster care. Once released, the participants' first priority was finding housing, becoming financially stable, and regaining custody of their children or grandchildren (see also Deivasigamani, 2019). But due to historical race-based disparity, these women found it difficult to find resources to successfully reenter society; they faced issues with culture, race, gender, and class (Opsal & Foley, 2013). Some institutions perpetuate racism (Heenehan, 2020). Some women felt unequal treatment-seeking resources due to their race and not just their status as ex-offenders. The research also

highlighted a lack of resources available to African American women in their community, which was similar for the participants in this study. Ex-offenders with pre-existing conditions find it difficult to get medical or psychological services. The disparity among Black women is severer than for women of other cultures, and it crosses all ages and socioeconomic statuses. These women found it difficult to get the help they needed to reconnect with their children and grandchildren and fully obtain the necessary financial support to care for their families. Some of the women stated that it took them years to get custody of their children or grandchildren. Others stated that they are still seeking custody.

The key to successful reentry is attaining and maintaining stable employment. Matriarchs are strong women at the head of their homes (Andrews et al., 2017), and they are usually expected to take control of the home due to the disparity of Black men in the labor force. However, most of the participants felt that it was difficult finding and maintain steady employment. As a Black female, it was already challenging to find employment. But as a Black female ex-offender, it was almost impossible to find employment. Further, most of the jobs available to ex-offenders were laborer jobs, which were predominantly male-orientated positions. The participants in this study felt that they had to find some form of financial support to reunite their family back together.

However, these women felt that they had to subject themselves to lower standards due to their lower educational achievements and low social-economic status (see Link & Oster, 2018; U.S. Department of Justice, 2017). Based on previous research, Black ex-offenders are often not qualified for the surge of available positions (e.g., technology, management,

clerical; Schlager, 2018). Most of the participants in this study were under-educated, had to work for the family, or became entrepreneurs. Only three had notable education: one of the participants had her GED, another one had an associate degree, and one had a bachelor's degree; most did not finish high school.

The family was a crucial component in most of these women surviving. Some of the participants stated that they felt a strong sense of support from their families. Several of the participants relayed how their family gave them a place to stay. Other participants stated that their families employed them. However, some participants did not have such family support. They stated that their family wanted nothing to do with them.

The process of reentry is always tricky and should start before the ex-offender is released. Some of the participants stated that they did not use reentry services; however, the process itself was complicated. Those participants with family support felt the transition was a little easier. Housing and employment were considered the most essential necessities for the women, but race and gender were a factor in their ability to gain either. The participants felt that if they were male or Caucasian, finding employment would have been more accessible, making finding housing easier. A few participants looking for employment mentioned that the interview was over when hiring managers discovered they were ex-offenders.

Most of the participants felt that the only people who accepted them were from their old neighborhood. However, most participants felt that they had to leave their old friends and community behind not to recidivate. Some of the participants in this study did use reentry services and were content with the help they received. However, the

participants felt that more could be done to help ex-offenders reenter society successfully. Some participants felt that there should be some form of help at least thirty days before release. Others felt that they did not need or want help from reentry services.

The findings from this study show that African American matriarch ex-offenders face racial disparity, financial and social challenges when reentering society after incarceration. Not only do they have extreme difficulty reuniting with their children, who may be wards of the state, but they also find it challenging to obtain employment and a stable home. The participants felt they would be more successful upon release if they were better prepared before being released. For example, participants felt there should be reentry programs in the prison to prepare them for the outside world. Such programs would include services that offered job readiness training, housing options, and classes to help them gain custody of their children. Several participants felt that they would have had a better chance at successful reentry if they could get employment with a fresh start program before being released.

#### Limitations

The limitation of this study and how trustworthiness was established and discussed in Chapter 1. The limitations include the study being limited to only African American matriarch and ex-offenders, not on parole. The interview platform was a limitation since some participants were uncomfortable with or unable to participate via videoconference. Therefore, phone interviews were implemented for those participants. However, the experiences of these matriarchs may not represent the experiences of all ex-

offender African American matriarchs. Due to the small number of participants, this study cannot be generalized across all African American matriarch ex-offenders.

#### Recommendations

Finding housing, employment, family support, and regaining custody of children are some of the problems faced by African American matriarchs reentering society after incarceration. Accessing reentry services and family support is vital to these women's success. According to Brown (2010), ethnicity and gender make it even more difficult for Black matriarchs to reenter society successfully.

This study sheds light on the lived experiences and perspectives of ex-offender African American matriarchs reentering their community. Some of the participants discussed their experiences reuniting with their families and the barriers they faced after being released from prison. Others talked about how complex the reentry process was. Most of the participants felt that the reentry process could be better. The women provided insight into some of what it takes to reintegrate after being released from prison successfully. Most of the women in this study felt that race and gender were factors that hindered them from successfully reentering their community. Based on the findings of this research, these women felt that they did not have the resources they needed to be successful in the community upon their release from prison.

My recommendation for African American Ex-offenders is to put pre-entry programs in place in prisons. There should be an orientation on what to expect once released, including where they live and how to attain financial support. These programs would assist the women in finding resources before they are released. These women

should also have access to some form of job readiness, educational, or vocational training to aid them in finding employment. The women would know where they live upon their release, they would have some form of job readiness training, and the program would have parenting classes to help them regain custody of their children. Ex-offenders with preexisting conditions would be referred to a free clinic for help. Policies should also be implemented to help ex-offenders with housing and financial services.

Further recommendations for more research should examine the process these exoffenders experience before they are released from prison. By giving these women the help and services they need, they benefit, and so does their community, as these women become productive citizens.

## **Implications**

The results of this study are aligned with the outcomes noted throughout the literature review. The overall implication from this study is that African American matriarch ex-offenders do possess a unique set of problems when it comes to reentry. Some of the unique problems are historically race-based disparity in society, mainly social services, oppression. There needs to be an increased sense of responsibility and autonomy, leading to these women having a stronger belief in themselves. Whether the penal system encourages these women to pull themselves up, they need to take responsibility for themselves.

The implication for social change is that this study may advance knowledge concerning African American matriarch ex-offenders ' reintegration into society.

Information from this study could help other ex-offenders navigate the system, find jobs,

housing, and medical resources. Moreover, other ex-offender matriarchs could use the information to successfully reunite with their families and regain custody of their children. This study also has implications for public policy concerning women ex-offenders, irrespective of race. Lawmakers should consider changing their policies and practices to minimize the negative impact on ex-offenders. Doing so would reduce the likelihood that these Black matriarchs remain in poverty and improve their chances to reunite their families.

#### Conclusion

This exploratory study examined the lived experiences and perspectives of African American matriarchs reentering society after incarceration. African American Matriarch is vital to the success of their families. However, they are overlooked due to racism and disparity. Disparities in Black women stem from years of discrimination due to race and gender bias and society's perception. In the 1800s, Black women worked hard to promote their ideas and become a part of society (Brown, 2010). However, they were still ignored. Even in the twenty-first century, as head of their house, Black women continue to face discrimination and prejudice, unlike other cultures (Brown, 2010). Some African American women are often invisible and not seen as productive members of society. Therefore, these women as ex-offenders are challenged by unique social obstacles that affect their ability to succeed in society (Brown, 2010).

Once released from prison, these women find themselves in a unique situation.

These women's future hangs in the balance. They must first find a place to live,
employment, and reunite with their family to seek custody of their children while dealing

with racial and gender inequality. By better understanding these women's experiences, policymakers can be encouraged to promote better understanding and offer more resources for these women. By supporting these ex-offenders, the community would improve also. If given the means to do so, these women may become productive community members and refrain from crime. As highlighted in one of the major themes from this study, a critical factor in being successful following prison release is the belief in self. These women felt that by believing in themselves, they could be successful in reentering the community. Given their willingness to believe in themselves and do the work, it is incumbent upon society to allow them every chance to do so.

This research contributes to the literature by providing additional African

American matriarch's perspectives and challenges when reentering society. Further, these
results could have significant implications on lawmakers to change the policies and
practices that impact ex-offenders. Such changes could enable these women to access
services to care for themselves and their families while reentering the community.

Finally, this research could also create a positive image of these women's reintegration
experiences, which could help streamline the transition from incarcerated to returning to
the community.

#### References

- Achiume, E. T. (2018). Putting racial equality onto the global human rights agenda. SUR-International Journal on Human Rights, 15(28), 141–150.
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23(3), 121–127.
- Amin, M. E. K., Nørgaard, L. S., Cavaco, A. M., Witry, M. J., Hillman, L., Cernasev, A., & Desselle, S. P. (2020). Establishing trustworthiness and authenticity in qualitative pharmacy research. *Research in Social & Administrative Pharmacy:*RSAP. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm. 2020.02.005
- Amour-Burton, T., & Etland, C. (2020). Black feminist thought: A paradigm to examine breast cancer disparities. *Nursing Research*, 69(4), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.00000000000000426
- Anderson, J. D., & Pitner, R. O. (2018). They are coming home: The effect of traumarelated cognitions on vocational readiness of incarcerated women. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518817776
- Anderson, V. (2017). Criteria for evaluating qualitative research. *Human Resource*Development Quarterly, 28(2), 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21282
- Andrews, N., Greenfield, S., Drever, W., & Redwood, S. (2017). Strong, female, and Black: stereotypes of African Caribbean women's body shape and their effects on clinical encounters. *Health: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 21(2), 189–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459315595847
- Angell, B., Matthews, E., Barrenger, S., Watson, A. C., & Draine, J. (2014). Engagement

- processes in model programs for community reentry from prison for people with serious mental illness. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 37(5), 490–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2014.02.022
- Aravamudhan, N. R., & Krishnaveni, R. (2015). Establishing and reporting content validity evidence of new training and development capacity building scale.

  Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues, 20(1), 131–158.
- Asberg, K., & Renk, K. (2015). Safer in jail? A comparison of victimization history and psychological adjustment between previously homeless and non-homeless incarcerated women. *Feminist Criminology*, 10(2), 165–187.
- Barrett, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. Evidence-Based Nursing, 21(3), 63-64. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 57(6), 837–854. https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2015-070
- Belgrave, F. Z., & Abrams, J. A. (2016). Reducing disparities and achieving equity in African American women's health. *The American Psychologist*, 8, 723.
- Berman, J. (2005). Women offender transition and reentry: Gender responsive

  approaches to transitioning women offenders from prison to the community.

  https://www.cmcainternational.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Womenoffender-transition-nd-reentry.pdf
- Bilbao Terreros, G. (2017). Matriarchy, motherhood, myth, and the negotiation of (gender) identity in modern Basque cinema. *Bulletin of Hispanic Studies*, 94(7), 731–746. http://dx.doi.org/10.3828/bhs.2017.45

- Bowleg, L., Teti, M., Massie, J. S., Patel, A., Malebranche, D. J., & Tschann, J. M. (2013). "What does it take to be a man? What is a real man?": Ideologies of masculinity and HIV sexual risk among Black heterosexual men. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 13(5), 545–559. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2011.556201
- Boyd, K. (2018). Using critical race theory to solve our profession's critical race issues.

  Journal of Financial Planning, 31(5), 13-14.
- Brewis, J. (2014). The ethics of researching friends: On conveniences sampling in qualitative management and organization studies. *British Journal of Management*, 25(4), 849–862. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12064
- Brock, K. (2017). Reducing recidivism through education. Wagadu: A Journal of Transnational Women's & Gender Studies, 17, 33–38.
- Brown v. Board of education of Topeka, opinion; (1954); Records of the supreme court of the United States; record group 267; National Archives.
- Brown, G. (2010). The intersectionality of race, gender, and reentry: Challenges for

  African American women [Issue Brief]. American Constitution Society for Law
  and Policy. https://www.acslaw.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Brown-issue-brief-Intersectionality.pdf
- Burch, M. (2017). (Re) entry from the bottom up: Case study of a critical approach to assisting women coming home from prison. *Critical Criminology*, 25(3), 357–374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10612-016-9346-3.
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2016). Terms and definitions: Crime types. www.bjs.gov Carson, E. A. (2016). Prisoners in 2016. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/p16.pdf

- Callahan, S., Jason, L. A., & Robinson, L. (2016). Reducing economic disparities for female offenders: The Oxford House Model. Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly, 34(3), 292–302.
- Cobbina, J. E. (2010). Reintegration success and failure: Factors impacting reintegration among incarcerated and formerly incarcerated women. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 49(3), 210–232.
- Christian, J. K. (2013). Re-entering society from prison. Research Starters: Sociology.
- Coulouta, L, & Kopf, D. (2018) Out of prison and out of work: Unemployment among formerly incarcerated people.
- Crenshaw, K. (1988). Race, reform and retrenchment: Transformation and legitimation in anti-discrimination law. Harvard Law Review, 101, 1331-1387.
- Crenshaw, K. W. (2011). Twenty years of critical race theory: Looking back to move forward. Connecticut Law Review, 43(5), 1253–1352.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Crouch M, McKenzie H. The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. *Social Science Information*. 2006;45(4):483-499. doi:10.1177/0539018406069584.
- Cypress, B. (2018). Qualitative research methods: A phenomenological focus.

  Dimensions Of Critical Care Nursing: DCCN, 37(6), 302–309. https://doi-

- org. ezp. waldenuli brary. org/10.1097/DCC. 0000000000000322.
- Davis, A. (1998). Masked racism: reflections on the prison industrial complex.[Article reprinted from Colorlines]. Indigenous Law Bulletin, 4(27), 4.
- DeCino, D. A., & Waalkes, P. L. (2019). Aligning epistemology with member checks.

  International Journal of Research & Method in Education, 42(4), 374–384.

  https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/1743727X.2018.1492535.
- Deivasigamani, T. (2019). W. E. B. Du Bois' The souls of Black folk: Freedom, equality and racial discrimination. Language in India, 19(10), 224–231.
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2013). Critical Race Theory: The cutting edge.(3rd ed).

  Temple University Press.
- Devlin, E. K. (2018). "It's Only Convincing If They Say It Is": Documenting Civil Rights

  Progress in the USIA's Nine from Little Rock. Film History, 30(4), 22–47.

  https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2979/filmhistory.30.4.02.
- DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(5), 545–547. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Dixson, A. D. (2018.). "What's going on?": A critical race theory perspective on Black lives matter and Activism in Education. Urban Education, 53(2), 231–247. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0042085917747115.
- Donovan, R. A., & West, L. M. (2015). Stress and mental health: Moderating role of the strong black woman stereotype. Journal of Black Psychology, 41(4), 384–396. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0095798414543014

- Du Bois, W. E. B. (1989). The souls of Black folk. Penguin Books.
- Dyson, Y. D., Davis, S. K., Counts-Spriggs, M., & Smith-Bankhead, N. (2017). Gender, race, class, and health: Interrogating the intersection of substance abuse and HIV through a cultural lens. Affiliate-Journal of Women and Social Work, 32(4), 531-542.
- Englander, M. (2016). The phenomenological method in qualitative psychology and psychiatry. International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Well-Being, 11, 1–N.PAG. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3402/qhw.v11.30682
- Faber, H., Jensen, M. R., & Røddesnes, S. (2019). NVivo an Introduction. Nordic Journal of Information Literacy in Higher Education, 11(1). https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.15845/noril.v11i1.2807
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (2015). Crime in the United States, 2015. U.S.

  Department of Justice. https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-inthe-u.s/2015/crime-in-the-u.s.2015/persons-arrested/persons-arrested.
- Few-Demo, A. L., & Arditti, J. A. (2014). Relational vulnerabilities of incarcerated and reentry mothers: Therapeutic implications. International Journal of Offender Therapy & Comparative Criminology, 58(11), 1297.
- Forman, J., Jr. (2018). Who Locked Us Up? Examining the social meaning of Black punitiveness: Locking up our own: Crime and Punishment in Black America. Yale Law Journal, 127(8), 2388–2447.
- Fontaine, J. (2013). Examining housing as a pathway to successful reentry: A demonstration design process. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.

- Freudenberg, N., Daniels, J., Crum, M., Perkins, T., & Richie, B. E. (2005). Coming home from jail: The social and health consequences of community reentry for women, male adolescents, and their families and communities (Reprinted from 2005 Am J Public Health, 95, 1725-1736). American journal of public health, 98, S191–S202. https://doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2105/AJPH.2004.056325.
- Garcia-Hallett, J. (2018). Maternal identities and narratives of motherhood: A qualitative exploration of women's pathways into and out of offending, Feminist Criminology, 14(2), 214-240.
- Goomany, A., & Dickinson, T. (2015). The influence of prison climate on the mental health of adult prisoners: A literature review. Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing, 22(6), 413-422. doi: 10.1111/jpm.12231
- Goshin, L. S. (2015). Review of the ex-prisoner's dilemma: How women negotiate competing narratives of reentry and desistance. Journal of Family Theory & Review, 7(4), 525–529. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/jftr.12112.
- Granqvist, P., & Nkara, F. (2017). Nature meets nurture in religious and spiritual development. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 35(1), 142–155. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/bjdp.12170
- Greenfield, L. (2000). Bureau of Justice Statistic. December 1999. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/wo.pdf.
- Griffith D. M., Ellis K. R., & Allen, J. O. (2013). An intersectional approach to social determinants of stress for African American men. American Journal of Men's Health, 7(4 suppl), 19S-30S. doi:10.1177/1557988313480227

- Gurusami, S. (2019) .Mother work under the State: The maternal labor of Formerly incarcerated Black women, Social Problems, 66(1), 128–143, https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spx045
- Hammond, C. (2010). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: Theory, method, and research. British Journal of Psychology, 2, 378.
- Harmon, M. G., & Boppre, B. (2018). Women of color and the war on crime: An explanation for the rise in Black female imprisonment. Journal of Ethnicity in Criminal Justice, 16(4), 309.
- Harris, D. (2018). Black lives matter. Core Library.
- Haley, D. F., Golin, C. E., Farel, C. E., Wohl, D. A., Scheyett, A. M., Garrett, J. J., Ames,
  H., Glenton, C. & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence
  synthesis: a worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of
  vaccination communication. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 19(1), 1–9.
  https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Heenehan, F. M. (2020). The space they take: Evaluating historically White fraternities through critical race theory. Vermont Connection, 41, 115–128.
- Heidemann, G., Cederbaum, J. A., Martinez, S., & LeBel, T. P. (2016). Wounded healers: How formerly incarcerated women help themselves by helping others. Punishment & Society, 18(1), 3-26.
- Howard-Hamilton, M. F. (2003). Theoretical frameworks for African American women.

  New Directions for Student Services, 104, 19–27.
- Illinois Department of Corrections. (2017). FY17 Annual Report.

- https://www2.illinois.gov/idoc/reportsandstatistics/Pages/default.aspx.
- Jackson, C., Vaughan, D. R., & Brown, L. (2018). Discovering lived experiences through descriptive phenomenology. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 30(11), 3309–3325. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2017-0707
- Jalali, F., & Hashemi, S. F. (2019). Group life skills training for promoting mental health in women after released from prison: A randomized pilot efficacy trial. Health Care for Women International, 40(3), 314–327. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/07399332.2018.1547385
- Jamali, H. R. (2018). Does research using qualitative methods (grounded theory, ethnography, and phenomenology) have more impact? Library and Information Science Research, 40(3–4), 201–207. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2018.09.002.
- Kajstura, A. (2017). Women mass incarceration the whole pie 2017. ACLU Smart Justice.
  - $https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/field\_document/womenprisonreport\_final.$
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

  The power of reflexivity. International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational

  Studies, 13(1), 19–31. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.18848/2327011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31.
- Kay, C. (2015). Offending and desistance: The importance of social relations. British Journal of Community Justice, 13(3), 79–80.

- Keene, D. E., Rosenberg, A., Schlesinger, P., Guo, M., & Blankenship, K. M. (2018).
  Navigating Limited and Uncertain Access to Subsidized Housing After Prison.
  Housing policy debate, 28(2), 199–214.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2017.1336638.
- Kruth, J. G. (2015). Five qualitative research approaches and their applications in parapsychology 1. The Journal of Parapsychology, 79(2), 219-233.
- Kubrin, C., Squires, G., & Stewart, E. (2007). Neighborhoods, race, and recidivism: The Community reoffending nexus and its implications for African Americans. In SAGE Race Relations Abstracts (Vol. 32, p. 7-37).
- Laasik, K. (2019). Phenomenology and perceptual content. Southern Journal of Philosophy, 57(3), 402–427. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/sjp.12335
- Leitzell, C., Madrazo, N., & Warner-Robbins, R. C. (2011). Meeting the health needs of post incarcerated women: How welcome home ministries helps bridge the gap and implications for public health professionals. Home healthcare management & practice, 23(3), 168–175. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1084822310395110
- Leverentz, A. M. (2014). In the ex-prisoner's dilemma: How women negotiate competing narratives of reentry and desistance. Rutgers University Press.
- Leverentz, A. (2011). Being a good daughter and sister: Families of origin in the reentry of African American female ex-prisoners. Feminist criminology, 6(4), 239-267.
- Leverentz, A. (2010). People, places, and things: how female ex-prisoners negotiate their

- neighborhood context. Journal of Contemporary Ethnography, 6, 646.
- Link, N. W. (2019). Criminal justice debt during the prisoner reintegration process: Who has it and how much? Criminal Justice and Behavior, 46(1), 154-172.
- Link, T. C., & Oser, C. B. (2018). The role of stressful life events and cultural factors on criminal thinking among African American women involved in the criminal justice system. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 45(1), 8-30. doi: 10.1177/0093854817736083.
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying Thematic Saturation in Qualitative Data Analysis. Field Methods, 30(3), 191–207.
- Lurigio, A. J., Belknap, J., Lynch, S., & DeHart, D. (2016). Jail Staff Members' Views on Jailed Women's Mental Health, Trauma, Offending, Rehabilitation, and Reentry. Prison Journal, 96(1), 79–101. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0032885515605485
- Maruschak, L. M., Berzofsky, M., Unangst, J. (2015). Medical problems of state and federal prisoners and jail inmates 2011-12. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics: Report No.: NCJ 248491.
- McHugh, R. K., Votaw, V. R., Sugarman, D. E., & Greenfield, S. F. (2018). Sex and gender differences in substance use disorders. Clinical Psychology Review, 66, 12–23. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2017.10.012.
- McLemore, M. R., & Warner Hand, Z. (2017). Making a case for innovative reentry employment programs: Previously incarcerated women as birth doulas—a case

- study. International Journal of Prisoner Health, 13(3-4), 219-227. doi:10.1108/IJPH-07-2016-0026.
- McMahon, M. (2013). Criminal recidivism. Research Starters: Sociology (Online Edition).
- McPherson JM. (2014). The struggle for equality: Abolitionists and the negro in the civil war and reconstruction. Princeton University Press.

  waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat06423a&AN=wal.EBC172488

  3&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Meadows, K.A. (2003). So you want to do research? 3. An introduction to qualitative methods. British Journal of Community Nursing, 8(10), 464–469.
- Melchior, H., Hüsing, P., Grundmann, J., Lotzin, A., Hiller, P., Pan, Y., Driessen, M.,
  Scherbaum, N., Schneider, B., Hillemacher, T., Stolzenburg, S., Schomerus, G.,
  & Schäfer, I. (2019). Substance abuse-related self-stigma in women with
  substance use disorder and comorbid posttraumatic stress disorder. European
  Addiction Research, 25(1), 20–29. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1159/000496113
- Mitchell, M. B., Davis, J. B., & Williams, J. M. (2019). Formerly incarcerated Black mothers matter too: Resisting social constructions of motherhood. Prison Journal, 99(4), 420–436. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0032885519852079
- Molina, A. (2017, September 29). For black women, finding work after prison has added challenges. The Press-Enterprise.

- Montaño, D. E., & Kasprzyk, D. (2015). Theory of reasoned action, theory of planned behavior, and the integrated behavioral model.
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 52(2), 250–260. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. The European Journal of General Practice, 24(1), 9–18. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Motivans, M. (2015). Federal justice statistics 2011-12. Retrieved February 27, 2015, from http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=5218.
- Muthee, J. M., Adeli, S. & Barasa. F. O. (2020). Effects of the challenges facing re-entry of women ex-offenders in Nyeri County, Kenya. International Journal of Research In Business and Social Science, 9(4), 29–40. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v9i4.699
- Nicholas, F., Jeanne, M., Melissa, L., Jessie, D., & Christopher, M. (2007). Comparison of health and social characteristics of people leaving New York City jails by age, gender, and race/ethnicity: Implications for public health interventions. Public Health Reports, 6, 733.
- Nicholas, X. (2017). An Interview with James Alan McPherson. Callaloo, 39(4), 742–745. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1353/cal.2017.0002
- Nigar, N. (2020). Hermeneutic phenomenological narrative enquiry: A qualitative study

- design. Theory & Practice in Language Studies, 10(1), 10.
- Noon, E. J. (2018). Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis: An Appropriate

  Methodology for Educational Research. Journal of Perspectives in Applied

  Academic Practice, 6(1), 75–83.

  https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.14297/jpaap.v6i1.304
- Nyamathi, A., Shin, S. S., Smeltzer, J., Salem, B., Yadav, K., Krogh, D., & Ekstrand, M. (2018). Effectiveness of dialectical behavioral therapy on reduction of recidivism

among recently incarcerated homeless women: A pilot study. International journal of offender therapy and comparative criminology, 62(15), 4796–4813.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X18785516

- O'Brien, P. (2001). Making it in the "free world:" Women in transition from prison. State University of New York Press.
- Opsal, T., & Foley, A. (2013). Making it on the outside: Understanding barriers to women's post-incarceration reintegration. Sociology Compass, 7(4), 265–277. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/soc4.12026.
- O'Reilly, A. (2014). Mothers, mothering, and motherhood across cultural differences: A reader. Demeter Press.
- Oser, C. B., Bunting, A. M., Pullen, E., & Stevens-Watkins, D. (2016). African American female offender's use of alternative and traditional health services after re-entry:

  Examining the behavioral model for vulnerable populations. Journal of health care for the poor and underserved, 27(2A), 120–148.

  https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2016.0052

- Palmer, R., & Gasman, M. (2008). It takes a village to raise a child: The role of social capital in promoting academic success for African American men at a Black college. Journal of College Student Development, 49, 52-70.
- Parameswaran, U. D., Ozawa-Kirk, J. L., & Latendresse, G. (2020). To live (code) or to not: A new method for coding in qualitative research. Qualitative Social Work, 19(4), 630–644. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1473325019840394.
- Parker, S. D. (2014). Multilevel challenges to engagement in HIV care after prison release: a theory-informed qualitative study comparing prisoners' perspectives before and after community reentry. BMC Public Health, 14(1), 1253. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-1253.
- Parsons M. L., & Warner-Robbins, C. (2002). Factors that support women's successful transition to the community following jail/prison. Health Care for Women International, 23(1), 6–18.
- Perry, B. L., Oser, C. B., & Harp, K. L. H. (2013). Racial and gender discrimination in the stress process: implications for African American women's health and well-being. Sociological Perspectives, 1, 25.

  https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

  direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106915553&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Potter, L., Zawadzki, M. J., Eccleston, C. P., Cook, J. E., Snipes, S. A., Sliwinski, M. J., & Smyth, J. M. (2019). The intersections of race, gender, age, and socioeconomic status: Implications for reporting discrimination and attributions to discrimination.

- Stigma and Health, 4(3), 264–281. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/sah0000099
- Richie, B. (2018). Challenges incarcerated women face as they return to their communities: Findings from life history interviews. In D. C. Hatton & A. A. Fisher (Eds.), Women prisoners and health justice: Perspectives, issues, and advocacy for an international hidden population (pp. 23–44). CRC Press.
- Reece, R. L. (2018). Color crit: Critical race theory and the history and future of colorism in the United States. Journal of Black Studies, 50(1), 3–25. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0021934718803735
- Ruiz, D. S., & Kopak, A. (2014). The consequences of parental incarceration for the consequences of parental incarceration for African American mothers, children, and grandparent caregivers. Journal of Pan African Studies, 7(6), 9–24.
- Rodgers, S. T. (2017). Womanism and afrocentricity: Understanding the intersection.

  Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 27(1/2), 36–47.

  https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10911359.2016.1259927.
- Ropes Berry, K., Kennedy, S. C., Lloyd, M., Veeh, C. A., & Tripodi, S. J. (2020). The intersectional effects of race and gender on time to reincarceration. : Justice Quarterly, 37(1), 132–160.
  - https://doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/07418825.2018.1524508
- Rosenfield, S., Phillips J., & White, H. (2006). Gender, race, and the self in mental health and crime. Social problems, 53, 161-185.
- Sawatsky, A. P., Parekh, N., Muula, A. S., Mbata, I., & Bui, T. (2016). Cultural

- implications of mentoring in sub-Saharan Africa: a qualitative study. Medical Education, 50(6), 657–669. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/medu.12999
- Scroggins, J. R., & Malley, S. (2010). Reentry and the (Unmet) needs of women. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 49(2), 146-163.
- Schiffer, M. A. (2014). Women of color and crime: A critical race theory perspective to address disparate prosecution. Arizona Law Review, 56(4), 1203.
- Schaefer, T. (2016). Applied qualitative research design: A total quality framework approach. Public Opinion Quarterly, 1, 215.
- Schlager, M. D. (2018). Through the looking glass: Taking stock of offender reentry.

  Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 34(1). 69-80. doi:

  10.1177/1043986217750443
- Sesko, A. K., & Biernat, M. (2010). Prototypes of race and gender: The invisibility of Black women. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 46, 356-360.
- Sesko, A. K., & Biernat, M. (2018). Invisibility of Black women: Drawing attention to individuality. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 21(1), 141–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430216663017
- Sewell, C. (2013). Mammies and matriarchs: Tracing Images of the Black female in popular culture 1950s to present. Journal of African American Studies, 17(3), 308-326.
- Simes, J. T. (2019). Place after prison: Neighborhood attainment and attachment during reentry. Journal of Urban Affairs, 41(4), 443–463. https://doi-

- org. ezp. waldenuli brary. org/10.1080/07352166.2018.1495041.
- Somers, J., Rezansoff, S., Moniruzzaman, A., & Zabarauckas, C. (2015). High-frequency use of corrections, health, and social services, and association with mental illness and substance use. Emerging themes in epidemiology, 12(1), doi:10.1186/s12982-015-0040-9
- Stanley, K. V. (2016). Behold, she stands at the door: Reentry, Black women and the Black church. Journal of Prison Education and Reentry, 3(1), 56–64. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.15845/jper.v3i1.1000
- Stenner, P., Watts, S., & Worrell, M. (2008). Qualitative methodology: The SAGE handbook of qualitative research in psychology. SAGE Publications Ltd doi: 10.4135/9781848607927
- Travis, J, Solomon, A. L., Waul, M. (2010). From prison to home: the dimensions and consequences of prison reentry, 1, 35-36.
- Taylor, S. J., Bogdan, R., & DeVault, M. L. (2016). Introduction to qualitative research methods: a guidebook and resource (4th ed.). Wiley.
- Tiburcio, N. J. (2008). Long-Term Recovery from heroin use among Female Exoffenders: Marisol's story. Substance Use & Misuse, 43(12/13), 1950. doi:10.1080/10826080802297369.
- Treviño, A. J., Harris, M., & Wallace, D. (2008). What's so critical about critical race theory? Contemporary Justice Review, 11(1), 7–10. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10282580701850330.
- Tyler, E. T., & Brockmann, B. (2017). Returning Home: Incarceration, reentry, stigma

- and the perpetuation of racial and socioeconomic health inequity. The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 45(4), 545–557.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110517750595.
- National Institute of Justice (NIJ), US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, & United States of America. (1993). Report to the Deputy Attorney General on the Events At Waco, Texas: February 28 To April 19, 2019.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2015, April 8). Recent population trends for the U.S. island areas: 2000 to 2010 (Report No. P23-213). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Vagle, M. (2014). Crafting phenomenological research. Routledge 294 Publishing.
- Visher, C., LaVigne, N., & Travis, J. (2004). Returning home: Understanding the challenges of prisoner reentry. Urban Institute Justice Policy Center.
- Wehby, G. L., & Lyu, W. (2018). The Impact of the ACA Medicaid Expansions on Health Insurance Coverage through 2015 and Coverage Disparities by Age, Race/Ethnicity, and Gender. Health Services Research, 53(2), 1248–1271. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12711.
- Western, B., Braga, A. A., Davis, J., & Sirois, C. (2015). Stress and hardship after prison.

  American Journal of Sociology, 120(5), 1512–1547. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1086/681301
- White, T. (2015). Beth E. Richie, arrested justice: Black women, violence, and America's prison nation. New York University Press.
- Williams, K. P. (2019). Understanding African American women's resilience in the face

- of allostatic load. Journal of Urban Health, 96(1), 1.
- Williams, J. M., Wilson, S. K., & Bergeson, C. (2019). "It's hard out here if you're a black felon": A critical examination of black male reentry. The Prison Journal, 99(4), 437–458.
- Willging, C. E., Nicdao, E. G., Trott, E. M., & Kellett, N. C. (2016). Structural inequality and social support for women prisoners released to rural communities. Women & criminal justice, 26(2), 145–164.
  Https://doi.org/10.1080/08974454.2015.1067174
- Willingham, B. C. (2011). Black women's prison narratives and the intersection of race, gender, and sexuality in US prisons. Critical Survey, 3(55). doi:10.3167/cs.2011.230305.
- Willis, D. G., Sullivan-Bolyai, S., Knafl, K., & Cohen, M. Z. (2016). Distinguishing features and similarities between descriptive phenomenological and qualitative description research. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 38(9), 1185.
- Windsong, E. A. (2018). Incorporating intersectionality into research design: an example using qualitative interviews. International Journal of Social Research

  Methodology, 21(2), 135–147. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1268361

# Appendix: Interview Questions

Participant N	Tame:
Date and tim	e of interview:
Location of Interview:	
Verification	
1.	Verify informed consent formed before collecting data
2.	Give participant copy of signed consent form
3.	Remind participant that she can quit at any time during the study
Pre-interview	Questions
1.	Where you previously incarcerated?
2.	Are you on parole or supervision?
3.	Are you African American?
4.	Are you a matriarch?
5.	Do you have children?
6.	Are you or have you had to seek reentry services?
Interview Questions	
1.	Where did you live after your release?
2.	Describe your experience getting financial assistance?
3.	Describe how reentry services helped you?
4.	Describe your experience reuniting with your family.
5.	Describe the process of regaining custody of your children.
6.	Describe your experience seeking employment.
7.	Describe your experiences seeking medical services.
8.	Describe your experience reentering you community.
9.	What do you think can be done differently to support matriarch reentering
their community?	
10.	Describe any barriers that may have affected your reentry process.